
    

   
 

 
CHILDREN, YOUTH AND FAMILIES (CYF) BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SYSTEM OF CARE COUNCIL 

MEETING AGENDA  
May 10, 2021 – 9:00-10:30 A.M. 

 
Zoom meeting link sent via Outlook meeting invitation 

 
I. Welcome (Valerie Hebert)       5 minutes 

• May is Mental Health Month – Event Calendar can be accessed at:   
https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/sdc/hhsa/programs/bhs/mimhm_resources.html  
Please submit planned activities in celebration of May is Mental Health Month to: Nancy.Page@sdcounty.ca.gov for posting 
Enter events into meeting chat 

 
II. Approval of Meeting Summary (Minola Clark Manson)  3 minutes 

• March 8, 2021 Meeting Summary-Handout-Pages 4-7  
• Action Items from March 8, 2021-See meeting summary for completed action items-Page 5 
• April 12, 2021 Combined Council Meeting Summary to be reviewed at next Combined Council Meeting 
 

III. Business Items (Yael Koenig)             2 minutes 
Board Letters / Board Actions 

• March 16, 2021-Item 02-Probation Department-Positive Youth Development Training and Professional Services Contract-Handout-Pages 8-10 
• March 16, 2021-Item 03-Probation-Establishing the Youth Transition Campus-Handout-Pages 11-12 
• March 16, 2021-Item 04-Probation-Request to Issue a Competitive Solicitation for Residential Treatment Program Services-Handout-Pages 13-14 
• March 16, 2021-Item 12-Receive Update Regarding San Pasqual Academy and Authorize Request for Extension of Pilot Project-Handout-Pages 15-17 
• March 16, 2021-Item 15-Literacy Campaign to Increase Access to Books in Low-Income Communities and Communities of Color and Boost Childhood Reading 

Comprehension and Writing-Handout-Pages 18-19 
• March 16, 2021-Item 21-Amplifying Systems of Support for Youth Career Readiness and Employment-Handout-Pages 20-21 
• April 6, 2021-Item 09-Strengthening Mobile Crisis Response Team Program: Additional Funding for Community Education Campaign, North Coastal Service Expansion, 

and Developing Data Sharing Agreements and Protocols with Law Enforcement and Other Entities, and Engaging Individuals with Lived Experience Through County 
Advisory Boards-Handout-Pages 22-24 

• April 6, 2021-Item 10-Increasing Access and Enrollment in County Self-Sufficiency Programs to Serve Every Community Member in Need without Barriers to Entry-
Handout-Pages 25-27 

• April 6, 2021-Item 16-A Resolution Denouncing Xenophobia and Anti-Asian Racism Affirming San Diego County’s Commitment to the Well-Being and Safety of Asian 
Pacific Islander Communities-Handout-Pages 28-29 

• April 6, 2021-Item 17-Receive the Report Back on the Framework for Creating an Equitable County Government through the Lens of Equity, Racial Justice, and Belonging 
and Attachment A-Handout-Pages 30-35 

• April 6, 2021-Item 25-Amending Legislative Program to Support Legislation Related to Background Checks on Firearm Purchases-Handout-Pages 36-37 
• May 4, 2021-Item 05-Provide Legal Representation to Detained Immigrants Facing Removal Proceedings-Handout-Pages 38-41 
• May 4, 2021-Item 11-Update on Advancing the Behavioral Health Continuum of Care and attachments-Continued item from 04/06/2021 (11) -Handouts-Pages 42-78 
• May 4, 2021-Item 24-Supporting H.R. 1280, the George Floyd Justice in Policing Act-Handout-Pages 79-80 
Link to Board of Supervisors Meeting Agendas: https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/cob/bosa/index.html 

Information 
• April 2021 BHS Director’s Report to the Behavioral Health Advisory Board (BHAB)-Handout-Pages 81-86 
• May 2021 BHS Director’s Report to the BHAB-Handout-Pages 87-89 
• Council Membership Rotation/CYF Council Private Sector Co-Chair Term ends June 30, 2021/Education Sector Co-Chair Term begins July 1, 2021 
• Supplemental Security Income (SSI) for Children and Families-Handouts-Pages 90-93 
• California Youth Empowerment Network (CAYEN)-Link: https://ca-yen.org/ (Bill Stewart)-Handout-Page 94 

Follow-Up Items (see pages 95-112) 
1. ‘Beyond the ACE Score’ Article introduced by Angela Rowe at the March 8, 2021 CYF Council meeting. Link: -Beyond the ACE score: Examining relationships between timing 

of developmental adversity, relational health and developmental outcomes in children - Archives of Psychiatric Nursing-Handout-Pages 95-104 
2. ACEs crosswalk has been updated to include Positive Childhood Experiences (PCE) questions -Handout-Pages 105-106 
3. Personal Commitment to Achieve Inclusion and Equity document from March 8, 2021 Council discussion facilitated by Rosa Ana Lozada-Handout-Page 107 
4. Outreach and Engagement During the Pandemic Best Practices-Document created from the January 11, February 8, and March 8, 2021 CYF Council meetings discussion-

Handout-Pages 108-112 
 

IV. Mental Health Services Act (MHSA) Update (Danyte Mockus-Valenzuela)     5 minutes 
 

V. Hot Topic: Coffee with BHS Director (Minola Clark Manson)                    70 minutes 
Dr. Luke Bergmann’s vision for serving children, youth, and families 
• Question 1 - What is your vision and plan for CYF SOC to take action to end disparities and racism? 
• Question 2 - Sometimes there is a delay in knowing the true impact of trauma on someone, especially a young child, since  

symptoms often present themselves months after the traumatic event and after a sense of safety has been established for that child.  Knowing this, we anticipate seeing 
an even greater need for mental health services for young children and their caregivers as school returns to in-person in the fall.  What steps and behavioral health 
resources will be put in place for the most vulnerable in our community, so the impact is not life long? 

• Question 3 - How do you envision the CYF system working towards a population health orientation? 
• Open Discussion 

 
VI. Announcements (Valerie Hebert)                                            5 minutes 

• Input Session for BHS 5-Year Strategic Housing Plan is scheduled for May 14, 2021 from 1:00 to 2:30 P.M.-Handout-Page 113 
• Mental Health for All-NAMI Walks-Your Way is scheduled for Saturday, May 22, 2021-Flier-Page 114 
• 2021 CYF System of Care Training Academy Annual conference (virtual): Youth Substance Use: Risk, Resilience, Reconnection 

is scheduled for Thursday, May 27, 2021. Information and Registration at: https://youth-substance-use-risk-resilience-reconnection.eventbrite.com 
 
Next Executive Committee Conference Call: 
Date: May 27, 2021 
Time: 11:30 A.M. to 12:00 P.M. 

Next Council Meeting:  
Date: Monday, June 14, 2021 
Time: 9:00-10:30 A.M. 

Sub-Committees/Sectors/Workgroups Meetings Information is located at the end of the meeting summary. For Council materials go to: 
https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/sdc/hhsa/programs/bhs/mental_health_services_children/CYFBHSOCCouncil.html 

https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/sdc/hhsa/programs/bhs/mimhm_resources.html
mailto:Nancy.Page@sdcounty.ca.gov
https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/cob/bosa/index.html
https://ca-yen.org/
https://www.psychiatricnursing.org/article/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/fulltext
https://www.psychiatricnursing.org/article/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/fulltext
https://youth-substance-use-risk-resilience-reconnection.eventbrite.com/
https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/sdc/hhsa/programs/bhs/mental_health_services_children/CYFBHSOCCouncil.html


 
 
 
May 1, 2018 
 
S:\BHS\CYF\ADD Meetings\CYFBHSOC Council\CYFBHSOCC Principles Mtg\Current SOC Principles May 14, 2018\May 14-2018 

 
 

County of San Diego  
Children, Youth and Families Behavioral Health 

 System of Care Council 
Vision, Mission, and Principles 

 
 
Council Vision: 
Wellness for children, youth and families throughout their lifespan. 
 
Council Mission: 
Advance systems and services to ensure that children and youth are healthy, safe, 
lawful, successful in school and in their transition to adulthood, while living in nurturing 
homes with families. 

 
Council Principles: 
 
1. Collaboration of four sectors: Coordination and shared responsibility between 

child/youth/family, public agencies, private organizations and education. 
 

2. Integrated: Services and supports are coordinated, comprehensive, accessible, and 
efficient. 
 

3. Child, Youth, and Family Driven: Child, youth, and family voice, choice, and lived 
experience are sought, valued and prioritized in service delivery, program design and policy 
development. 
 

4. Individualized: Services and supports are customized to fit the unique strengths and 
needs of children, youth and families. 
 

5. Strength-based: Services and supports identify and utilize knowledge, skills, and assets of 
children, youth, families and their community. 
 

6. Community-based: Services are accessible to children, youth and families and strengthen 
their connections to natural supports and local resources. 
 

7. Outcome driven: Outcomes are measured and evaluated to monitor progress and to 
improve services and satisfaction. 
 

8. Culturally Competent: Services and supports respect diverse beliefs, identities, cultures, 
preference, and represent linguistic diversity of those served. 

 
9. Trauma Informed: Services and supports recognize the impact of trauma and chronic 

stress, respond with compassion, and commit to the prevention of re-traumatization and 
the promotion of self-care, resiliency, and safety.   

 
10. Persistence: Goals are achieved through action, coordination and perseverance 

regardless of challenges and barriers. 

2



BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SERVICES

CHILDREN, YOUTH & FAMILIES 
FRAMEWORK

 

VISION
 

PRIORITIES

Children and youth are healthy, safe, lawful, successful in school and in
 their transition to adulthood, while living in nurturing homes with families.

Strengthen
partnerships with
children/youth’s

circle of influence to
create a supportive

environment.

HEALTH FACTORS
Live Well San Diego-Areas of Influence

Supportive Families
Nurturing Communities
Connection to Natural Supports
Positive Social Interactions

 Social

Access to Parks, Playgrounds and
Recreation Centers
Usable Transportation
Safe Neighborhoods & Schools
Affordable Stable Housing
Access to Extracurricular Activities

Economic & Nutrition Security
Timely Access to Healthcare
Inclusive of Behavioral Health
Services
Employment Readiness

Daily Physical Activity
Limited & Supervised Screen
Time
Affordable Healthy Food
Zero Sugary Beverages,
Drink More Water
No Substance Use
No Tobacco Use
Up to Date Immunizations
Connection to a Health Home

Quality Education
Quality Preschool For All
Good School Attendance
School Success
No Suspensions or Expulsions
Obtain a High School Diploma
Access to Higher Education &
Vocational Programs

        

Standard
 of Living

Version 3/5/2021

Ensure a full continuum
of care through family-

centered and youth-
informed services that
are compassionate and
sensitive to the unique

developmental needs of
children and youth.

Provide services that
empower children and

youth to build a healthy
sense of self and have

confidence to make
sound decisions so they

thrive in an  ever-
changing world.

Knowledge

Health

Community

Collaborative, Integrated, Child, Youth & Family Driven, Individualized,
Strength-based, Community-based, Outcome & Data Driven, Culturally

Competent, Trauma Informed, Persistence

PRINCIPLES
 

3



   

1 | P a g e  
 

CHILDREN, YOUTH AND FAMILIES (CYF)  
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SYSTEM OF CARE COUNCIL 

MEETING SUMMARY 
March 8, 2021 | 9:00-10:30 A.M. 

Virtual Meeting  
 

ITEM SUMMARY AND ACTION ITEMS 
I. Welcome/Introductions (Valerie Hebert) 
 

 

II. Approval of Minutes (Minola Clark Manson) 
• February 8, 2021 Meeting Summary-Handout-Pages 4-7  
• Action Items from February 8, 2021-See meeting summary for completed 

action items-Page 5 
 

 
• Minutes approved through virtual platform process 
• Action items reviewed by Yael Koenig 

III. Business Items (Yael Koenig) 
Board Letters 
• February 9, 2021-Item 03: Receive the First 5 San Diego 2020 Annual Report-

Handout-Pages 8-9 
Link to the report: https://first5sandiego.org/about-us/reports/ 

• February 9, 2021-Item 04: Authorize Applications for and Acceptance of 
Funding For The Transitional Housing Program and Adopt a Resolution 
Authorizing Application and Acceptance Allocation Award Under the 
Transitional Housing Program-Handout-Pages 10-13 

• February 23, 2021-Item 01-Board Conference: Future of Probation-Handout-
Pages 14-16 

• February 23, 2021-Future of Juvenile and Adult Probation Board Conference 
Agenda- Handout-Pages 17-18 
Link to the conference: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qtdwWwoKCtk 

• March 2, 2021-Item 12: A Sustainable Initiative to Uplift Boys and Men of 
Color-Handout-Pages 19-22 

• March 3, 2021 (Land Use)-Item 11: Update: Measures to Provide Economic 
Access and Equity in the Cannabis Industry-Handout-Pages 23-29 

Information 
o March 2021 BHS Director’s Report to the Behavioral Health Advisory Board 

(BHAB)-Handout-Pages 30-39 
o Family Urgent Response System (FURS) Live effective March 1, 2021-Fliers-

Handouts-Pages 40-41 
o County of San Diego Emergency Rental Assistance Program (ERAP)-

Applications opened March 2, 2021-Handout-Pages 42-47 
o California Conservation Corps (CCC)-Handouts-Pages 48-56 
o Services exclusive for San Diego Regional Center (SDRC) Clients  

 Skills System Substance Use Disorders Program Brochure- Handout-
Pages 57-58 

 Skills System Brochure-Pages 59-60 
 Rainbow Group Brochure-Pages 61-62 

o Public Health-Black Legacy Now https://blacklegacynowsd.com/ 
 

 
• Yael Koenig reviewed business items 

 
• Angela Rowe discussed article “Beyond the Ace Score” 

and the importance of supporting families 
 

• Black Legacy Now – Per Dr. Coleman for additional 
information please contact Josephine Young at 
Josephine.young@sdcounty.ca.gov with Public Health  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IV. Mental Health Services Act (MHSA) Update (Dr. Danyte Mockus-
Valenzuela) 

 

• 2021 Prevention and Early Intervention Forum Series- 
Advancing Mental Health Prevention and Early 
Intervention Using Evaluation and Technical Support 

• MHSOAC PEI Forum 1 Zoom Link and Materials 
(March 17, 2021): https://mhsoac.ca.gov/news-
events/events/prevention-and-early-intervention-forum-
1-risk-protective-factors-role-strategic  

• PEI handout with infographic 
https://mhsoac.ca.gov/sites/default/files/PEI%20Fact%2
0Sheet.pdf  

 

4

https://first5sandiego.org/about-us/reports/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qtdwWwoKCtk
https://blacklegacynowsd.com/
mailto:Josephine.young@sdcounty.ca.gov
https://mhsoac.ca.gov/news-events/events/prevention-and-early-intervention-forum-1-risk-protective-factors-role-strategic
https://mhsoac.ca.gov/news-events/events/prevention-and-early-intervention-forum-1-risk-protective-factors-role-strategic
https://mhsoac.ca.gov/news-events/events/prevention-and-early-intervention-forum-1-risk-protective-factors-role-strategic
https://mhsoac.ca.gov/sites/default/files/PEI%20Fact%20Sheet.pdf
https://mhsoac.ca.gov/sites/default/files/PEI%20Fact%20Sheet.pdf


   

2 | P a g e  
 

ITEM SUMMARY AND ACTION ITEMS 
V.  Sub-Committees Updates (Yael Koenig) 
• Cultural Competence Resource Team (CCRT) – (Rosa Ana Lozada)-

Handouts-Pages 63-74 
 

• Rosa Ana Lozada reviewed the CCRT Mid-Year Sub-
Committee Report 

• Rosa Ana Lozada provided interactive presentation on 
Personal Commitment to achieve inclusion and equity 
with intent to reach out and provide a summary 
document to the Council  
 

Hot Topic: Live Well Schools (Deirdre Kleske and Emma Wan)  
• Tools for Schools-Handout-Page 75 
• Website https://www.livewellsd.org/toolsforschools/        
• Video link: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=l6CsJOgGwgo&t=6s  
 

• Deirdre Kleske introduced Live Well Schools Tools for 
School  

• Emma Wan reviewed Tools for Schools Resources 
website 

• George Scolari recommended that the Healthy San 
Diego (HSD) Quick Guides be shared for consideration 
to upload to the Live Well Schools website 
 

Hot Topic: Outreach and Engagement – Part III (Minola Clark Manson) 
• Finalize Summary of Recommendations Discussion (Amanda Lance-Sexton 

and Fran Cooper)-Pages 76-82 

• Amanda Lance-Sexton and Fran Cooper shared CYF 
SOC Council summary recommendations and gathered 
input on finalizing document to be used as a resource 
 

VI. Announcements 
• Critical Issues in Child and Adolescent Mental Health Conference-March 19, 

2021: https://cicamh.com/ -Handout-Pages 83-84 
• 2021 California Mental Health Advocates for Children and Youth (CHMACY) 

Conference Scholarship Applications are open. Applications can be found at: 
https://forms.gle/9qhUKai7uYz6B7sE9 and must be submitted by March 26, 
2021 (Rose Woods) 

• Save the Date: April 12, 2021-Combined Councils meeting- Please note time: 
10:00 to 11:30 A.M.-Handout-Page 85 

• Save the Date: May 7, 2021: Youth Mental Health Well-Being, Virtual 
Gathering-Handout-Pages 86-87 

• 2021 CYF System of Care Training Academy Annual conference (virtual): 
Youth Substance Use: Risk, Resilience, Reconnection 

• is scheduled for May 27, 2021. Information and Registration at: https://youth-
substance-use-risk-resilience-reconnection.eventbrite.com  
(Rose Woods) 
 

 
• Valerie Hebert reviewed announcements 

VII. Action Items Action Due/Status 
1. Provide update on the new date for Juvenile Health and Justice Symposium 

(original date was March 17, 2020)  
 

• CYF Council will provide update when the information 
is available 

2. Share ‘Beyond the ACE Score’ Article introduced by Angela Rowe 

ACEs crosswalk has been updated to includes that Positive Childhood 
Experiences (PCE) 

 

• Provide at the May10, 2021 CYF Council meeting 
 
• Provide at the May 10, 2021 CYF Council meeting 

3. Personal Commitment to Achieve Inclusion and Equity document created 
from the March 8, 2021 CYF Council discussion facilitated by Rosa Ana 
Lozada 
 

• Provide at the May 10, 2021 CYF Council meeting 

4. Provide the document created at the January 11, February 8, and March 8, 
2021 CYF Council meetings discussion: Outreach and Engagement During 
the Pandemic- Best Practices  

• Provide at the May 10, 2021 CYF Council meeting 
 

5. Provide the Live Well Schools website organizer with the Healthy San Diego 
Quick Guides 

Completed: Yael Koenig and George Scolari provided 
Deirdre Kleske the Healthy San Diego Quick Guides on 
March 8, 2021  
• Drug Medi-Cal  
• Behavioral Health Medi-Cal  
• Medi-Cal Plan Contact Card  

 
 

5

https://www.livewellsd.org/toolsforschools/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=l6CsJOgGwgo&t=6s
https://cicamh.com/
https://forms.gle/9qhUKai7uYz6B7sE9
https://youth-substance-use-risk-resilience-reconnection.eventbrite.com/
https://youth-substance-use-risk-resilience-reconnection.eventbrite.com/


   

3 | P a g e  
 

 

+=Member in Attendance O=Absent  E=Excused 

CONSTITUENCY MEMBER STATUS ALTERNATE STATUS 
PUBLIC SECTOR 

1 Behavioral Health Advisory Board (BHAB) Rebecca Hernandez 
 

O Bill Stewart 
 

+ 

2 Behavioral Health Services (BHS) Dr. Laura Vleugels 
 

+ Dr. Charmi Patel + 

3 Public Safety Group/ Probation 
 

Lisa Sawin + Chrystal Sweet O 

4 Child Welfare Services (CWS) 
 

Steve Wells   + Norma Rincon O 

5 HHSA Regions VACANT  Jennifer Sovay  O 

6 Public Health Dr. Thomas R. Coleman + Adrienne Yancey O 

7 Juvenile Court H. Ana Espana + Beth Brown  + 

8 First 5 Commission Alethea Arguilez O Dulce Aguilar-Cahue O 

EDUCATION SECTOR 
9 Special Education Local Plan Area (SELPA) Cara Schukoske O Jamie Tate - Symons O 

10 Regular Education 
Pupil Personnel Services 

Violeta Mora + Heather Nemour O 

11 School Board Barbara Ryan + VACANT  

12    Special Education Yuka Sakamoto + VACANT  

PRIVATE SECTOR 
13 San Diego Regional Center (SDRC) for 

Developmentally Disabled  
Peggie Webb O Therese Davis  O 

14 Alcohol and Drug Service Provider Association 
(ADSPA) 

Angela Rowe + John Laidlaw O 

15 Alcohol and Drug Service Provider Association 
(ADSPA) 

Marisa Varond + Claudette Allen Butler + 

16 Mental Health Contractors Association Julie McPherson + Minola Clark Manson + 

17 Mental Health Contractors Association 
(MHCA) 

Laura Beadles + Michelle Hogan O 

18 Fee- For-Service (FFS) Network 
 

Dr. Sherry Casper + Marcelo A. Podesta 
 

+ 

19 Managed Care Health Plan George Scolari + Kathleen Lang 
 

+ 

20 Healthcare/ Pediatrician Dr. Pradeep Gidwani + VACANT 
 

 

FAMILY AND YOUTH SECTOR 

21 Family and Youth Liaison Renee Cookson O Valerie Hebert + 

22 Caregiver of child/youth served by the Public 
Health System 

 
Debbie Dennison 
 

 
+ 

 
VACANT 
 

 
 

23 Youth served by the Public Health System (up 
to age 26) 

Micaela Cunningham + VACANT 
 

 

6



   

4 | P a g e  
 

  

Sub-Committees/Sectors/Workgroups Meetings Information: 

Due to COVID-19, most of the sub-committees’ meetings are occurring virtually 
Please reach out to the sector lead or Executive Subcommittee member to obtain location/link 

             Behavioral Health Advisory Board (BHAB) meeting: Meets the first Thursday of the month from 2:30 to 5:00 P.M. 
 Outcomes: Meets the first Tuesday of every other month from 11:30 A.M. to 12:30 P.M. 
 Early Childhood: Meets the second Monday of the month- from 11:00 A.M. to 12:00 P.M. 

Education Advisory Ad Hoc: Meets as Needed, next meeting will be in September 2020. 
 TAY Council: Meets the fourth Wednesday of the month 3:00 to 4:30 P.M.  

CYF CADRE: Meets quarterly on the second Thursday of the month from 1:30 to 3:00 P.M. 
CYF System of Care Training Academy: Meets on the first Wednesday of the month from 9:00 to 10:00 A.M. 

 CCRT: Meets the first Friday of the month from 10:00 to 11:30 A.M. 
Family and Youth as Partners: Meets every third Thursday of the month from 1:30 to 3:00 P.M.  

 Private Sector: Ad Hoc/Meets as needed. 
 

24 Youth served by the public health system (up 
to age 26) 

Christine Frey + Emma Eldredge O 

SUB-COMMITTEES (Non-voting members unless a member of the Council) 
- Executive Sub-Committee 

 
Valerie Hebert/ 
Minola Clark Manson 

+/+   

- Cultural Competence Resource Team (CCRT) Rosa Ana Lozada +   

-  CYF CADRE  Julie McPherson/ 
Marisa Varond 

+/+   

- Early Childhood Sub-Committee Aisha Pope/Ginger Bial +/+   

- Education Sub-Committee Heather Nemour/Violeta 
Mora 

O/+  
 

 

- Family and Youth as Partners Sub-Committee Renee Cookson/ 
Valerie Hebert 

O/+   

- Outcomes Sub-Committee Emily Trask/Eileen 
Quinn-O’Malley 

O/+   

- Training Sub-Committee Rose Woods +   

7



 

Legistar v1.0  1 

 

Legistar v1.0  2 
 

8



 

Legistar v1.0  3 
 

 

Legistar v1.0  4 
 

9



 

Legistar v1.0  5 
 

Pending

 

 

 

10



 

Legistar v1.0  1 

 

Legistar v1.0  2 
 

•
•
•
•
•
•

11



Legistar v1.0 3 

12



BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

 

Legistar v1.0  1 

DATE: March 16, 2021 04
TO:

SUBJECT
PROBATION REQUEST TO ISSUE A COMPETITIVE SOLICITATION FOR 
RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT PROGRAM SERVICES (DISTRICTS: ALL)..Title

..Body

OVERVIEW

RECOMMENDATION(S)
CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER

 
SUBJECT:

 
 

Legistar v1.0  2 
 

FISCAL IMPACT

BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT

..Details

ADVISORY BOARD STATEMENT

BACKGROUND 

13



 
SUBJECT:

 
 

Legistar v1.0  3 
 

LINKAGE TO THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO STRATEGIC PLAN

 

ATTACHMENT(S)

14



BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

 

Legistar v1.0  1 

DATE: March 16, 2021 12
TO:

SUBJECT
..Title

RECEIVE UPDATE REGARDING SAN PASQUAL ACADEMY AND AUTHORIZE 
REQUEST FOR EXTENSION OF PILOT PROJECT (DISTRICTS: ALL)
..Body

OVERVIEW

SUBJECT:

 

Legistar v1.0  2 
 

Live Well 
San Diego 

RECOMMENDATION(S)
CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER

FISCAL IMPACT

BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT

..Details

ADVISORY BOARD STATEMENT

 

BACKGROUND

15



SUBJECT:

 

Legistar v1.0  3 
 

•
•
•
•
•

•

Changes in Child Welfare System Landscape

•
•
•
•
•

SUBJECT:

 

Legistar v1.0  4 
 

Legislative Changes

16



SUBJECT:

 

Legistar v1.0  5 
 

Operational Developments

•

o
o
o

•

SUBJECT:

 

Legistar v1.0  6 
 

Next Steps - Community Engagement 

LINKAGE TO THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO STRATEGIC PLAN

Live Well 
San Diego 

ATTACHMENT(S)

17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



 

Legistar v1.0  1 

 

Legistar v1.0  2 
 

30



 

Legistar v1.0  3 
 

 

 

Legistar v1.0  4 
 

•

•

31



 

Legistar v1.0  5 
 

 

Legistar v1.0  6 
 

•

•

•

 

32



 

Page 1 of 5 
 

Recommendation A: Create a process to solicit community input to identify county policies and practices that lead to or 
perpetuate racial or ethnic disparity, with the goal of catalyzing change for just, safe, and healthier 
communities.

EXPECTED OUTCOME PLAN TIMEFRAME

 

Page 2 of 5 
 

Recommendation B: Revise the statement of values, mission, vision, and strategic plan to represent equity and inclusion as a core 
principle of the County of San Diego and Board of Supervisors.

EXPECTED OUTCOME PLAN TIMEFRAME

33



 

Page 3 of 5 
 

 

Page 4 of 5 
 

Recommendation C: Incorporate a section titled Equity Impact Statement in the Board Letter template for all county 
departments to identify and determine a systematic approach with standardized guidelines to express the 
equity impact of recommended actions.

EXPECTED OUTCOME PLAN TIMEFRAME

34



 

Page 5 of 5 
 

Recommendation D: Enhance data collection capabilities to identify racial disparities among programs and services that are 
meant to improve health, social, economic, educational, and criminal justice circumstances, and prioritize 
funding proportional to need when possible.

EXPECTED OUTCOME PLAN TIMEFRAME

 

35



36



37



38



39



40



41



 

 
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 

 
AGENDA ITEM 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
 

NORA VARGAS 
First District 

 
JOEL ANDERSON 

Second District 
 

TERRA LAWSON-REMER 
Third District 

 
NATHAN FLETCHER 

Fourth District 
 

JIM DESMOND 
Fifth District 

 

Legistar v1.0  1 

 

DATE: May 4, 2021  11 
        
TO: Board of Supervisors 

 
SUBJECT 
..Title 

UPDATE ON ADVANCING THE BEHAVIORAL HEALTH CONTINUUM OF CARE 
(DISTRICTS: ALL)   
 
..Body 

OVERVIEW 
Under the leadership of the San Diego Board of Supervisors (Board), behavioral health care in San 
Diego County is in the midst of a profound transformation. The County of San Diego (County) is 
taking action and making strategic investments to move the local behavioral health care delivery 
system from a model of care driven by crises, to one centered on continuous, coordinated care and 
prevention. These efforts are guided by data; focused on equity; and designed to engender 
collaborative work across silos, within and outside of government.   
 
Today’s update to the Board includes a summary of the conceptual strategies underlying the 
County’s behavioral health reform efforts, as well as a report on progress of the portfolio of 
projects that are bringing this transformation to life. 
 
Additionally, today’s action, if approved, would accept the updated Lanterman-Petris-Short (LPS) 
Designation Guidelines and Processes for Facilities within San Diego County to include all 
programs that meet State and local regulations, including community-based crisis stabilization 
units, a health care service that is crucial to driving toward a continuous care orientation.   
 
These actions will advance the County’s ongoing work across systems to support better care of 
individuals, better health for local populations, and more efficient health care resourcing.  In doing 
so, today’s item supports the County’s Live Well San Diego vision for a region where all residents 
have the opportunity to build better health, live safely, and thrive. 
 
RECOMMENDATION(S) 
CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 
1. Receive an update on Advancing the Behavioral Health Continuum of Care. 
2. Direct the Chief Administrative Officer to sunset time-certain reporting for the Behavioral 

Health Impact Fund and Laura’s Law updates, and to shift reporting for the Behavioral Health 
Continuum of Care to coincide with significant developments. 

SUBJECT: UPDATE ON ADVANCING THE BEHAVIORAL HEALTH CONTINUUM 
OF CARE (DISTRICTS: ALL) 

 

Legistar v1.0  2 
 

3. Adopt the updated Lanterman-Petris-Short (LPS) Designation Guidelines and Processes 
for Facilities within San Diego County, revised to expand eligibility to all programs that 
meet applicable State and local requirements. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT 
There is no fiscal impact associated with this item. There will be no change in net General Fund 
costs and no additional staff years. 
 
BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT 
N/A 
 
..Details 

ADVISORY BOARD STATEMENT 
Preliminary information regarding this item was presented at the Behavioral Health Advisory 
Board meeting on February 4, 2021, with new information shared at their meetings on March 4, 
2021, and April 1, 2021. 
 
BACKGROUND 

Strategy Development: 2018-2019 
 
Under the leadership of the San Diego County Board of Supervisors (Board), behavioral health 
care in San Diego County is in the midst of a transformation from a system disproportionately 
driven by crises, to one with an emphasis on prevention and continuous, coordinated care. There 
are three inter-related strategic pillars supporting this effort: 
 

• The deeper integration of a population health approach into the behavioral health system 
– which emphasizes health outcomes and their distribution within a population, 
longitudinal patterns of health determinants, and the guiding policies and interventions that 
influence these factors. 

 
• A renewed focus on defining key metrics across behavioral health programming to better 

measure program impacts, in alignment with nationally recognized best practices.  
 

• Weaving nationally recognized strategies into the County of San Diego’s (County) 
Behavioral Health Services (BHS) planning and operations.  This includes the concept of 
the Triple Aim, which is designed to 1) improve the health of populations, 2) enhance the 
experience and outcomes of individuals, and 3) reduce per capita costs of care. Examples 
of current work in alignment with the Triple Aim includes: 

 
o A new Population Health Unit was established within BHS, staffed by a team of 

epidemiologists. Additionally, BHS launched a data sciences initiative to enhance 
data governance and integrate data source systems, to better support measurement 
of program impact and promote equity in the delivery of services.  

 
o BHS is redesigning outpatient mental health program standards to ensure best 

individual patient outcomes, and is investing in an innovative care coordination 

42



SUBJECT: UPDATE ON ADVANCING THE BEHAVIORAL HEALTH CONTINUUM 
OF CARE (DISTRICTS: ALL) 

 

Legistar v1.0  3 
 

service that will enable individualized, data-driven care navigation and advocacy 
for people being discharged from inpatient care.  

 
o Investments are being made now to avoid costs in future years through better care 

outcomes. This is exemplified by current work to expand the Augmented Services 
Program (Board and Care) capacity, which will reduce rehospitalization as well as 
performance-based incentives for contracted services that are designed to lead to 
better management of costs and support improved client outcomes including new 
payment models for crisis stabilization services and inpatient psychiatric care.  

 
COVID-19 Strategic Pivot: 2020 

 
The COVID-19 public health crisis and subsequent economic crisis were, and continue to be, 
accompanied by an epidemic in increased behavioral health need and have been the impetus for 
shifts in the modalities of behavioral health care in the region. Recent data have indicated alarming 
trends in psychological distress and key measures of population-level mental health compared to 
prior to the pandemic, with proportionately greater harm in areas more impacted by COVID-19. 
The pandemic has also been associated with a sustained increase in overdose deaths both locally 
and nationally, a trend which may be tied to disruptions in the illicit drug supply chain and typical 
use patterns as well as an increase in the prevalence of the super-potent synthetic opioid fentanyl.   
Concurrently, the pandemic dramatically changed patterns of behavioral health care utilization, 
with immediate reductions in specialty care utilization across the behavioral healthcare system and 
the most sustained reductions in substance use care.   
 
The County responded with a multipronged approach. To address care access, the system of 
County-operated and contracted outpatient care pivoted to telephonic or tele-health services. To 
be responsive to pandemic-related pressures on mainstream health systems, several projects 
involving capital investment in hospital systems were delayed. Instead, focus shifted to high-
impact, community-based programs and initiatives designed to divert individuals from more 
intensive levels of care and connect them to long-term housing and supports, and ongoing care 
coordination.  
 

Focus on Value and Equity: 2020 and Moving Forward 
 

In the past year there was a renewed attention to racial justice, with calls for the dismantling of 
structural racism and the promotion of equity within our government systems. In recognition of 
these calls for reform from the community and by the Board, BHS is taking tangible steps to lessen 
disparities and support equity within the behavioral health system, building on an existing 
foundation of equity-oriented activities, and in alignment with broader countywide racial justice 
efforts.  
  

• The data sciences initiative noted above will enable the Population Health Unit to employ 
population health strategies to identify health disparities across racial and ethnic 
groups, as well as disparities across gender, sexual orientation, culture, language, and 
socioeconomic status. The Population Health Unit will work together with BHS leadership 
to engage in strategic planning and evaluation of programs to support proportional resource 

SUBJECT: UPDATE ON ADVANCING THE BEHAVIORAL HEALTH CONTINUUM 
OF CARE (DISTRICTS: ALL) 

 

Legistar v1.0  4 
 

allocation based on community need, and with design considerations led by the 
community’s voice.  
 

• BHS is working with the University of California, San Diego (UCSD) Health Services 
Research Center (HSRC) and Rady Children’s Hospital Children and Adolescent Services 
Research Center (CASRC) toward the development of a “Community Experience 
Project” designed to establish a process for identifying and addressing unmet behavioral 
health needs, through the completion of four carefully developed areas of work:  
 

o Engagement with community members and key stakeholders in the identification, 
collection, analysis, and interpretation of data and in the development of plans for 
action.  

o Creation of a “Behavioral Equity Index” to highlight populations and 
neighborhoods at greatest risk for unmet behavioral health need.  

o Development of a “Community Experience Dashboard” to provide users with an 
interactive platform to investigate behavioral health experiences by subpopulation 
and subregional area using community data sources. 

o Development of action reports which will synthesize key findings and priorities for 
intervention.  

 
BHS will work in concert with Public Health Services to ensure these efforts are integrated across 
healthcare and behavioral healthcare and are aligned with the actions set forward at the County 
level.  
 

Continuing to Build a Regionally Distributed Continuum of Care 
 
On February 18, 2021, Chair Fletcher’s State of the County address affirmed that we must build a 
network of comprehensive behavioral healthcare that delivers the right services, to the right 
person, at the right time by:  
 

• Expanding behavioral health hubs countywide, 
• Ensuring discharged clients are paired with a care coordinator,  
• Fully expanding innovative projects, such as the Mobile Crisis Response Team pilot,  
• Implementing a series of actions to address the steep shortage of essential mental health 

workers, 
• Offering more supportive housing paired with effective behavioral health treatment, 
• Embracing harm reduction strategies, and 
• Improving care to the justice-involved population. 

 
Actions are underway, as directed by your Board and as shaped by community voices, that are 
building the necessary service capacity to achieve this vision. This includes: 
 

• The advancement of the Central Region flagship behavioral health hub,  
• New construction of a psychiatric health facility in Oceanside, 

43



SUBJECT: UPDATE ON ADVANCING THE BEHAVIORAL HEALTH CONTINUUM 
OF CARE (DISTRICTS: ALL) 

 

Legistar v1.0  5 
 

• The Mobile Crisis Response Team pilot program which became operational in March 2021, 
with plans to expedite countywide roll-out, and  

• Increasing crisis stabilization services capacity through the expansion and addition of 
regional crisis stabilization units. 

 
A complete description and update on all Continuum of Care projects can be found in Attachment 
A. 
 
As noted above, expansion of regional crisis stabilization services remains a priority, with 
services provided in both hospital- and community-based settings. Hospital-based crisis 
stabilization units (CSUs) provide emergency psychiatric services adjacent to a hospital’s 
emergency or urgent care unit, for individuals experiencing a psychiatric crisis to stabilize and 
connect them to ongoing services that meet their individual needs, while community-based CSUs 
provide emergency psychiatric services within a community-based setting. Services in CSUs 
include: law enforcement drop-offs, as a safe alternative to a jail or hospital; psychiatric services; 
medication; peer support; and transition planning, with stays of less than 24 hours, as per current 
California Code of Regulations.    
 
Currently, hospital-based CSUs are designated Lanterman-Petris-Short (LPS) facilities which 
primarily allows for involuntary evaluation and treatment of individuals; however, community-
based CSUs do not qualify under the current County LPS designation guidelines. If approved, 
today’s action would change that by accepting the updated LPS Designation Guidelines and 
Processes for Facilities within San Diego County to include all programs that meet applicable State 
and local regulations. This would allow for the inclusion of community-based CSUs ensuring all 
crisis stabilization settings can operate consistently. 
 
Additionally, efforts are underway to enhance collaborative work between HHSA and the San 
Diego County Sheriff’s Department to support the expanded behavioral health care services in San 
Diego County’s jails. This is in alignment with Chair Fletcher’s State of the County priorities, as 
well as the Triple Aim approach to improve the health of populations, enhance the experience and 
outcomes of individuals, and ultimately reduce per capita costs of care.  
 
Future Updates 
Today’s action also seeks approval to shift away from topic-specific reporting on a pre-set cadence 
– specifically, quarterly Continuum of Care, Laura’s Law Assisted Outpatient Treatment services, 
and Behavioral Health Impact Fund reporting – to providing updates as key developments are 
identified. This will help ensure updates are provided to the Board in a timely and comprehensive 
manner.   
 
LINKAGE TO THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO STRATEGIC PLAN 
Today’s action supports the County’s 2021-2026 strategic initiative of Building Better Health by 
supporting the County of San Diego’s goal of a fully optimized health and social service delivery 
system to make it an industry leader in efficiency, integration, and innovation. Additionally, 
today’s item supports the Operational Excellence strategic initiative making health, safety, and 
thriving a focus of all policies and programs through internal and external collaboration.  

 

SUBJECT: UPDATE ON ADVANCING THE BEHAVIORAL HEALTH CONTINUUM 
OF CARE (DISTRICTS: ALL) 

 

Legistar v1.0  6 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
HELEN N. ROBBINS-MEYER 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Attachment A – Behavioral Health Services Continuum of Care Key Updates 
Attachment B – Lanterman-Petris-Short (LPS) Designation Guidelines and Processes for Facilities 
Within San Diego County (Clean Copy) 
Attachment B-1 – Lanterman-Petris-Short (LPS) Designation Guidelines and Processes for 
Facilities Within San Diego County (Informational Copy) 
 
 
 
 
 
  

44



ATTACHMENT A 
 

A-1 

 
 

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SERVICES  
CONTINUUM OF CARE KEY UPDATES 

 
May 4, 2021 

 
In 2018, the San Diego County Board of Supervisors (Board) initiated several actions to enhance, 
expand, and innovate behavioral health programs and services in the region. This body of work is 
broadly referred to as the Behavioral Health Continuum of Care (Continuum of Care). These 
actions have brought together diverse stakeholders, including justice partners, hospitals, 
community health centers and other community-based providers, to create system-wide changes 
and help ensure individuals can quickly access behavioral health services to meet their immediate 
needs, and support their long-term journey to recovery. 
 
Prior to COVID-19, Continuum of Care updates were presented in the context of hubs and 
networks as follows: 
 

• Hubs: Integrated care environments that are co-located and affiliated with a general acute 
care hospital, designed to accelerate transition from behavioral health crisis to sustainable, 
continuous care management through robust care coordination. 

• Networks: A broad array of outpatient services and housing opportunities that help keep 
individuals stable and continuously connected to services. 
 

However, the impact of COVID-19 has shifted the County’s strategies in the following ways: 
 

• Strategies are temporarily shifting away from large capital investments toward high impact 
services designed to support the influx of need due to elevated levels of mental distress. 

• Leverage current federal and State regulatory changes that allow for flexibility and the 
rapid expansion of services, including telehealth and certification processes. 

• Shift to community-based resources in order to relieve pressure upon the hospital system, 
which has been severely impacted during the pandemic. 

 
These strategic shifts have also changed the way Continuum of Care updates are reported. Updates 
that were once reported in the categories of Hubs and Networks, are now reported within the 
categories of Diversionary Services, Investments to Support Continuous Care for Individuals with 
Behavioral Health Conditions, and Care Coordination Efforts. These new reporting categories are 
in alignment with strategic efforts to shift or delay large investments in capital infrastructure in 
hospital systems, and instead focus on programs and initiatives that yield high-impact result 
designed to divert individuals from high-acuity services and connect them to long-term housing 
and supports, and ongoing care coordination. 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

A-2 

Diversionary Services 

Regional Crisis Stabilization Units 
On March 26, 2019 (02), the Board approved a recommendation to work collaboratively with 
the Sheriff’s Department and District Attorney to establish regional mental health crisis 
stabilization units (CSUs) that provide 24/7 walk-in mental health and substance use disorder 
services for those in behavioral health crisis. Services in these CSUs include law enforcement 
drop-offs as a safe alternative to a jail or hospital, psychiatric services, medication, peer support, 
and transition planning, with stays of less than 24 hours.  
 

• The North Coastal Community-Based CSU in Vista received approval for the 
conditional use permit application with construction expected to be completed in fall 
2021. When operational, this facility will have 12 recliners available.  

• The North Coastal Live Well Health Center Community-Based CSU in Oceanside 
continues to progress forward. The project is currently in the construction phase with 
anticipated completion occurring summer 2021 and services estimated to begin fall 
2021. When operational, this facility will have 12 recliners available. 

• The South Region Hospital-Based CSU located at Paradise Valley Hospital was 
approved by the Board on August 4, 2020 (05) and when operational, will have up to 
12 recliners. All recliners are anticipated to be available by the end of Fiscal Year 2020-
2021.  

• The North Inland Hospital-Based CSU at the Palomar Hospital campus in Escondido 
was approved by the Board on May 19, 2020 (06) to expand from 8 to 16 recliners. All 
16 recliners were available beginning January 2021. 

Mobile Crisis Response Teams 
On March 26, 2019 (02), the Board approved a recommendation to develop timely follow-up 
care to connect individuals to appropriate services after a mental health crisis involving law 
enforcement. To further explore reducing the extent of law enforcement involvement in serving 
behavioral health needs, on June 25, 2019 (01), the Board approved the establishment of a non-
law enforcement Mobile Crisis Response Teams (MCRT) pilot program, in coordination with 
Behavioral Health Services (BHS), the Sheriff, and the San Diego County District Attorney, 
with initial efforts focused in the North Coastal Region. Subsequently, the Board approved a 
recommendation on June 23, 2020 (26), to fully fund an expedited rollout of MCRTs 
countywide.  
 
As of March 2021, the North Coastal MCRT pilot program is operational and actively taking 
referrals. MCRTs are comprised of a trained clinician, case manager, and peer support specialist 
with teams currently deployed through the Access and Crisis Line, and plans are underway to 
evolve the service toward 9-1-1 dispatch.  

  

45



ATTACHMENT A 
 

A-3 

Investments to Support Continuous Care for Individuals with Behavioral Health 
Conditions  

Step-Down and Long-Term Care Investments 
Increasing the availability of step-down and long-term care beds continues to be a vital need 
and priority. Since 2019, BHS has increased capacity by over 200 beds throughout the county, 
as reported in previous Continuum of Care updates, which provide transitional support for 
people experiencing an acute behavioral health need when they are discharged from an inpatient 
psychiatric hospital.  
 
Augmented Services Programs (ASPs), provide enhanced services to individuals with serious 
mental illness who are receiving behavioral health services and are placed in licensed residential 
care facilities, also referred to as Board and Care facilities. The ASP program assists clients in 
maintaining and improving functioning in the community and to prevent or minimize 
institutionalization. These services are available at licensed Board and Care facilities, with the 
goal of stepping down to a lower level of care if clinically indicated. In support of this critical 
service, planning to enhance provider rates continues to ensure capacity can be maintained 
across ASP programs. BHS is working towards identifying prospective Board and Care 
providers with the goal of increasing ASP beds to serve the behavioral health system of care.   

Inpatient Psychiatric Acute Care Rate Review Project  
In a collaboration with providers, BHS is developing new, value-based reimbursement 
approaches for inpatient services.  This includes the development of baseline per-diem rate(s) 
and working to establish additional incentive-based payment opportunities. BHS will work 
closely with the provider community to define performance measures and associated goals for 
these incentive payments. The chosen measures will support broader goals to improve 
behavioral health for San Diego and may include efforts to expand access, better coordinate 
care, and help people maintain recovery. 

Tri-City Psychiatric Health Facility 
In 2018, Tri-City Healthcare District (Tri-City), suspended its behavioral health unit (BHU), 
which provided adult inpatient psychiatric services, and its CSU, which provided adult crisis 
stabilization services. On June 25, 2019 (23), the Board directed the Chief Administrative 
Officer to negotiate an agreement with Tri-City, or related entity, to provide funding for 
construction of a psychiatric health facility (PHF) to meet the urgent and emergent behavioral 
health needs in North San Diego County. On January 14, 2020 (11), the Board approved final 
agreements between the County and Tri-City for the development and operation of a 16-bed 
PHF on vacant land located at the Tri-City Medical Center campus in Oceanside. Designs for 
the facility have been finalized and construction is currently slated to begin fall 2021 with 
services estimated to begin in late 2022. 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

A-4 

Children’s Behavioral Health Hub 
On March 10, 2020 (04), the Board approved actions to begin the process of evaluating and 
potentially developing a behavioral health hub in North Central Region in partnership with 
Rady Children’s Hospital (Rady) which would provide an array of services designed to meet 
the needs children and youth. Services for this hub include: 
 

• Inpatient and acute care services 
• Crisis stabilization services 
• Partial hospitalization 
• Care coordination services 
• Medical and transitional care services for the County’s Juvenile Hall 

 
County staff continue to work with Rady on California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
compliance; to design the program and clinical services; and outline the planning phases to 
build the new facility. 

Care Coordination Efforts 

Memorandum of Understanding with University of California, San Diego Health 
On October 29, 2019 (31), the Board was informed that development of a vacant, County-
owned parcel of land located on Third Avenue, San Diego, was feasible for a variety of mental 
health services. Subsequently, on January 28, 2020 (03), the Board directed staff to execute a 
memorandum of understanding between the County and the University of California, San Diego 
Health (UCSD), to operate and/or provide services at the Central Region Behavioral Health 
Hub and, as appropriate, provide interim services at San Diego County Psychiatric Hospital 
(SDCPH). 
 
The County and UCSD continue to collaborate toward the establishment of longitudinal, data-
supported care coordination for people with serious mental illness. This work is being supported 
through a recent community investment agreement of $1 million from Blue Shield Promise, 
and a soft launch is anticipated in the first half of Fiscal Year 2021-22. 
 
Transitioning operations at the SDCPH to UCSD will require changes at Edgemoor Distinct 
Part Skilled Nursing Facility (Edgemoor) which is currently a distinct part and licensed under 
SDCPH. With planned changes in licensure at SDCPH there is an opportunity to reconfigure 
the relationship between SNF and adjacent services at Edgemoor. To optimize clinical 
coordination and best meet community need, an architect and the Department of General 
Services, with the guidance of OSHPD liaisons, are assisting with a review of options for 
augmenting services at Edgemoor.  

Additional Updates in Support of Continuum of Care Efforts 
 
Behavioral Health Impact Fund  
On April 7, 2020 (03), the Board, in partnership with the City of San Diego (City), established 
a Behavioral Health Impact Fund (BHIF) with appropriations of $25 million for capital projects 
to support community-based behavioral health organizations in increasing their capacity to 
support long-term treatment. One-time funds for capital projects through a competitive 
procurement process will strengthen the regional Continuum of Care.  

46



ATTACHMENT A 
 

A-5 

The BHIF request for proposal (RFP) was issued in May 2020, inviting offerors to submit 
proposals for capital funds to support the following critical service areas: 
 
• Licensed adult residential facilities, also known as board and care facilities; 
• Temporary and transitional housing and support for people with substance use disorders 

consistent with recovery residence settings; 
• Residential mental health treatment services, including crisis residential programs for 

homeless populations and transition age youth; 
• Residential substance use disorder treatment programs, inclusive of withdrawal 

management and detoxification services; 
• Other temporary and transitional housing for homeless populations with behavioral health 

needs that may include a focus on youth who are victims of commercial sexual 
exploitation; and 

• Information technology to support telehealth, data integration and innovation to optimize 
access and care for individuals with behavioral health care needs. 

 
Behavioral Health Services (BHS) received proposals in June 2020 and began evaluations in 
July 2020. The evaluation process continues moving forward, with an anticipated staggered 
approach to award as evaluations are completed and recommendations for award are made. The 
source selection committee has completed the evaluation for multiple proposals and is finalizing 
recommendations, while multiple additional proposals continue to be evaluated. The anticipated 
timeline for making initial awards is spring 2021, with the potential for making additional 
awards in the following months. 
 
 
Continuum of Care Projects on Hold  
The Continuum of Care projects listed below began prior to the pandemic and are currently on 
hold due to the impacts of COVID-19 as noted in the opening narrative above: 

• North Inland crisis residential services – On October 29, 2019 (05), the Board approved 
actions to competitively procure crisis residential services along the 78 corridor which, 
when operational, would have up to 16 beds. 

• School-based crisis services – On March 26, 2019 (02), the Board approved a 
recommendation to work with school districts and the County Office of Education to 
develop enhanced school-based crisis response, including possible expansion of the 
existing PERT program for threats or crisis situations involving school youth. 

• On October 29, 2019 (05), the Board approved actions to pursue development of a 
behavioral health hub in the North Inland Region in Escondido with services provided 
in partnership with Palomar Health. The feasibility of developing additional behavioral 
health hubs in other geographic areas of San Diego County, including South Region and 
East Region, were also being explored. 

 
 

47



ATTACHMENT B 

County of San Diego Health and Human Services Agency  
Behavioral Health Services 

 
 
 
 
 
 

LANTERMAN-PETRIS SHORT (LPS) DESIGNATION 

GUIDELINES AND PROCESSES  

FOR FACILITIES WITHIN SAN DIEGO COUNTY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT B 

LPS DESIGNATION GUIDELINES AND PROCESSES FOR FACILITIES 
WITHIN SAN DIEGO COUNTY 

I. LPS DESIGNATION GUIDELINES FOR FACILITIES ................................................................................. 3 
 
 
 
 

  
  
  
  
  

 
 

II. DESIGNATION TO TAKE INDIVIDUALS INTO CUSTODY PURSUANT TO LPS ACT ................... 16 
 

III. INITIAL FACILITY DESIGNATION ............................................................................................................ 19 
 
 

IV. FACILITY PERIODIC REVIEW .................................................................................................................... 21 
 

V. WITHDRAWAL OF DESIGNATION, CONDITIONAL DESIGNATION AND REINSTATEMENT OF
 DESIGNATION ................................................................................................................................................ 22 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

48



ATTACHMENT B 

 
County of San Diego Health and Human Services Agency 

 Behavioral Health Services (BHS) 
 

 

DECLARATION: 

 

OBJECTIVES: 

 

 

 

I. LPS DESIGNATION GUIDELINES FOR FACILITIES 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

49



ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 

Welfare and Institutions Code 

ATTACHMENT B 

• 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

50



ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

51



ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

 

1. ADMISSIONS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

52



ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. FACILITY PRACTICES POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

3. SECLUSION AND RESTRAINT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. AFTERCARE/DISCHARGE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

53



ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

5. POLICIES AND PROCEDURES RELATED TO MINORS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

54



ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

II. DESIGNATION TO TAKE INDIVIDUALS INTO CUSTODY

 PURSUANT TO LPS ACT 

 

 

55



ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

56



ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

III. INITIAL FACILITY DESIGNATION 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

57



ATTACHMENT B 

 

IV. FACILITY PERIODIC REVIEW 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

V. WITHDRAWAL OF DESIGNATION, CONDITIONAL DESIGNATION

 AND REINSTATEMENT OF DESIGNATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

58



ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

59



ATTACHMENT B-1 

County of San Diego Health and Human Services Agency  
Behavioral Health Services 

 
 
 
 
 
 

LANTERMAN-PETRIS SHORT (LPS) DESIGNATION 

GUIDELINES AND PROCESSES  

FOR FACILITIES WITHIN SAN DIEGO COUNTY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT B-1 

LPS DESIGNATION GUIDELINES AND PROCESSES FOR FACILITIES 
WITHIN SAN DIEGO COUNTY 

I. LPS DESIGNATION GUIDELINES FOR FACILITIES ................................................................................. 3 
 
 
 
 

  
  
  
  
  

 
 

II. DESIGNATION TO TAKE INDIVIDUALS INTO CUSTODY PURSUANT TO LPS ACT ................... 16 
 

III. INITIAL FACILITY DESIGNATION ............................................................................................................ 19 
 
 

IV. FACILITY PERIODIC REVIEW .................................................................................................................... 21 
 

V. WITHDRAWAL OF DESIGNATION, CONDITIONAL DESIGNATION AND REINSTATEMENT OF
 DESIGNATION ................................................................................................................................................ 22 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

60



ATTACHMENT B-1 

 
County of San Diego Health and Human Services Agency 

 Behavioral Health Services (BHS) 
 

 

DECLARATION: 

 

OBJECTIVES: 

 

 

 

I. LPS DESIGNATION GUIDELINES FOR FACILITIES 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

61



ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

• 

Welfare and Institutions Code 

ATTACHMENT B-1 

• 

 

 

 

 

62



ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

63



ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

 

 

1. ADMISSIONS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

64



ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. FACILITY PRACTICES POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

3. SECLUSION AND RESTRAINT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. AFTERCARE/DISCHARGE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

65



ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

 

5. POLICIES AND PROCEDURES RELATED TO MINORS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

66



ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

 

 

 

II. DESIGNATION TO TAKE INDIVIDUALS INTO CUSTODY

 PURSUANT TO LPS ACT 

 

 

 

67



ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

68



ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

III. INITIAL FACILITY DESIGNATION 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

69



ATTACHMENT B-1 

IV. FACILITY PERIODIC REVIEW 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B-1 

V. WITHDRAWAL OF DESIGNATION, CONDITIONAL DESIGNATION

 AND REINSTATEMENT OF DESIGNATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

70



ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B-1 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

71



ITEM 11: UPDATE ON ADVANCING THE BEHAVIORAL 
HEALTH CONTINUUM OF CARE

Dr. Luke Bergmann, Director, Behavioral Health Services 
Health and Human Services Agency

May 4, 2021

1

2

Transformation of the Behavioral 
Health System 

Establishment of New Behavioral 
Health Vision and Strategies 

Advancement of the Continuum 
of Care Vision & Body of Work

2018 2019 2020 2021

Service Continuity & Optimization
Addressing Disparities in the 

Behavioral Health System

Continuing to Build a Regionally 
Distributed Continuum of Care

72



Advancing Behavioral Health 

911 Calls

High Hospitalization Rates

Mental Health in Jails

Advancing Behavioral Health 

73



5

Advancing Behavioral Health 

Behavioral Health Services Guiding Framework

Continuing to Build a Regionally Distributed Continuum of Care

Measure the distribution of health outcomes within a population 
and patterns of health determinants with the goal of improving 
health equity

Improve the health of the population, enhance the 
experience and outcomes of individuals, and 
reduce per capita costs of care

Population Health

Invest in enhancement of key metrics to better measure 
program impacts, in alignment with nationally 
recognized best practices

Triple Aim

Key Metrics

Services Across the Continuum of Care

6

BH HUBS 
AND CARE 

COORDINATION

CRISIS AND 
DIVERSIONARY 

SERVICES

INPATIENT AND 
LONG-TERM 

CARE

74



Crisis Stabilization Units by HHSA Region

7

Crisis & Diversionary Services

CSU Currently Running

CSU In Development

Planned CSUPalomar Health CSU

8

Crisis & Diversionary Services

NOTE: Dates are planning estimates and subject to change, last updated: 4/28/21 

75



9

Tri-City Psychiatric Health Facility 

Inpatient, Residential, & Long-Term Care

10

Inpatient, Residential, & Long-Term Care

NOTE: Dates are planning estimates and subject to change, last updated: 5/3/21 

76



Flagship Central Region Hub with UCSDF

South Region Hub

East Region Hub

Rady Children’s Hub

North Region Hub

HHSA Regions
North Coastal

North Inland

North Central

Central

East

South

Hubs & Care Coordination Services

Rendering of the Central Region Hub with UCSD

12

Hubs & Care Coordination Services

NOTE: Dates are planning estimates and subject to change, last updated: 4/28/21 

77



13

Key Projects to Advance 
Behavioral Health

Behavioral Health Equity Index

• Establish a process for identifying and 
addressing unmet behavioral health need

• Carefully developed areas of work and 
innovative data integration approach

14

Recommendation #1: Receive an update on Advancing the Behavioral Health 
Continuum of Care.

Recommendation #2: Direct the Chief Administrative Officer to sunset select 
time-certain reporting, and to shift reporting for the Behavioral Health Continuum 
of Care to coincide with significant developments.

Recommendation #3: Adopt the updated Lanterman-Petris-Short (LPS) 
Designation Guidelines and Processes for Facilities within San Diego County, 
revised to expand eligibility to all programs that meet applicable State and local 
requirements.

Recommended Actions

78



79



80



 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
March 25, 2021  
 
 
TO:  The Behavioral Health Advisory Board (BHAB) 
 
FROM: Luke Bergmann, Ph.D., Director, Behavioral Health Services (BHS) 
 
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SERVICES DIRECTOR’S REPORT – April 2021 

 
ACTION ITEM: REPORT BACK ON COMPREHENSIVE COUNTY SUBSTANCE USE HARM 
REDUCTION STRATEGY 
 
On January 26, 2021 (13), the San Diego County Board of Supervisors (BOS) approved overturning 
prior Board direction opposing harm reduction programs including the December 9, 1997 resolution 
entitled “Resolution to Oppose Needle Exchange Programs”. The Board further directed the Chief 
Administrative Officer to: 
 

• Create an Action Plan to realize a Syringe Services Program to meet the needs of San 
Diego County’s population, including identification of necessary resources, and program 
partnerships; and in accordance with findings and recommendations in the January 14, 
2021, Health and Human Services Agency (HHSA) memo and accompanied the Family 
Health Centers of San Diego (FHCSD) and San Diego State University’s Institute for Public 
Health (IPH) study, Environmental Assessment on People Who Inject Drugs, and report 
back to the Board with regular updates; and  
 

• Return within 90 days to the Board with a comprehensive County Substance Use Harm 
Reduction Strategy including immediate, intermediate and long-term actions that broadens 
the existing “Opioid and Prescription Drug Misuse” strategy to bring a harm reduction 
approach to all substance use interventions across the County. 

 
On May 4, 2021, Behavioral Health Services and Public Health Services will return to the BOS with 
a recommendation to receive the report back on this direction, noting that the Syringe Services 
Action Plan is a component of the Harm Reduction Strategy. 
 
It is THEREFORE, staff’s recommendation that your Board vote to support the 
authorizations and approvals needed to advance the recommendation in this Board Letter.  

NICK MACCHIONE, FACHE 
AGENCY DIRECTOR 

 

HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES AGENCY 
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SERVICES 

3255 CAMINO DEL RIO SOUTH, MAIL STOP P-531 
SAN DIEGO, CA 92108-3806   

(619) 563-2700 • FAX (619) 563-2705 
 

LUKE BERGMANN, Ph.D. 
DIRECTOR, BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SERVICES 

 

Behavioral Health Services 
Director’s Report – April 2021 
Page 2 
 
 

 

LIVE WELL SAN DIEGO UPDATES / SPECIAL EVENTS 
 
Upcoming Events 
 
May Is Mental Health Month 2021  
Planning continues in preparation for May Is Mental Health Month, with this year’s theme being 
Hope for Change. Once again, activities in recognition of the month will be held virtually. Additional 
plans include a webpage with an events calendar, list of activities, resources, and a special “5 Trails 
Challenge” to highlight the importance of mental and physical health and was created in 
collaboration with the County of San Diego’s Park and Recreation department.  
 
Providers, faith-based organizations, and community organizations are encouraged to submit 
planned activities in recognition of May Is Mental Health Month to Nancy Page 
(Nancy.Page@sdcounty.ca.gov) for inclusion on the events calendar. 
 
Children and Youth Mental Health Awareness Day Celebration - May 7, 2021 
The BHS Children, Youth, and Families (CYF) System of Care unit is partnering with NAMI San 
Diego to recognize the importance of children and youth mental health with a special virtual 
gathering that will use art to engage children and youth who are living with serious challenges and 
their families. This event is to serve as a reminder that we can be physically distanced and remain 
socially connected. Visit https://cyfliaison.namisandiego.org/may-event-2020/ to view last year’s 
event and artwork.  

 
UPDATES FROM THE ADULT AND OLDER ADULT (AOA) SYSTEM OF CARE  
 
Advancing the Behavioral Health Continuum of Care  
 
Expansion of Regional Crisis Stabilization Units 
 
Palomar Health  
On August 4, 2015, the San Diego County Board of Supervisors (BOS) approved a contract with 
Palomar Health to provide specialized services for crisis stabilization. On July 1, 2020, Palomar 
Health moved into their new modular building next to their hospital in Escondido, CA. The modular 
building is a state-of-the-art facility located directly outside the emergency room at Palomar 
Hospital. The two-story building accommodated eight additional recliners increasing the total 
number of recliners to 16 by the end of 2020. Crisis stabilization services are designed to prevent 
clients from being admitted to a more intensive inpatient setting, which can be disruptive to one’s 
life. By June 2020, Palomar was able to divert 86.9% of their clients from admitting into their 
inpatient program. The service is designed to last 24 hours and provide intensive assessment, 
medications, monitoring, peer support and case management services. Additionally, Palomar 
provides clients with one-time funding for housing or other basic needs.  
 
Paradise Valley  
On August 4, 2020, the BOS approved a contract with Paradise Valley to provide specialized 
services for crisis stabilization. This newest crisis stabilization unit (CSU) will be housed at the Bay 
View Hospital, serving the south region. This site will accommodate 12 recliners and will provide 
24-hour crisis stabilization. Services will include psychiatric assessments, monitoring, medications, 
peer support, case management, and care coordination. The CSU is scheduled to open in April 
2021. 

81



Behavioral Health Services 
Director’s Report – April 2021 
Page 3 
 
 

 

North Coastal Live Well Health Center  
The North Coastal Live Well Health Center CSU will be an outpatient program operating 24 hours 
a day, to provide community-based, crisis stabilization services in a comfortable, welcoming 
environment. The program will assist in de-escalating the severity of a person’s level of distress 
and/or reducing the need for urgent care associated with substance use or serious mental illness, 
while providing support in a recovery-oriented setting. This CSU will be located at the North Coastal 
Live Well Health Center at 1701 Mission Avenue in Oceanside, where an array of other behavioral 
health services are co-located. Additionally, there will be a care coordination component to ensure 
clients are connected to ongoing behavioral health and community support services. This program 
will serve both as a walk-in assessment center for 5150 clients and provide voluntary stabilization 
services. 
 
North Coastal Pilot Mobile Crisis Response Team Procurement   
On November 3, 2020, the North Coastal Mobile Crisis Response Team (MCRT) pilot contract was 
awarded to Exodus Recovery, Inc. On January 11, 2021, the MCRT launched with a soft opening 
providing field-based, non-law enforcement, crisis intervention services. Working in tandem with 
the Access and Crisis Line, teams consisting of a clinician and a peer respond to individuals 
experiencing a behavioral health crisis in the field with the goal of de-escalating the crisis and 
diverting the client from more costly levels of care. After the MCRT team mitigates the immediate 
crisis, the enhanced care coordination component allows for care coordinators to assist clients 
further, linking them with appropriate and ongoing services.  
 
COVID-19 BHS Response 
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, BHS partnered with Public Health Services and other 
Health and Human Services Agency (HHSA) departments to ensure the behavioral health needs 
of individuals impacted by COVID-19 were addressed. 
 
Mental Health Systems, Inc. (MHS)/Convention Center  
Effective April 1, 2020, several contracts with MHS, Inc. were amended to deploy to the Convention 
Center in partnership with the City of San Diego, San Diego Housing Commission (SDHC), County 
of San Diego (County) Public Health Services and Medical Care Services, homeless service 
providers, and additional community service agencies to ensure establishing a temporary shelter 
space that would allow for physical distancing, COVID-19 testing, and connection to services. MHS, 
Inc. provides on-site crisis intervention, medication management, individual counseling services, 
and referrals to additional behavioral health services. As of March 1, 2021, MHS, Inc. has provided 
over 8,000 contact/service encounters to guests at the convention center. Services at the 
Convention Center will cease effective March 24, 2021, due to demobilization efforts led by the City 
of San Diego in partnership with other providers. 
 
As part of the clinical intervention at the Convention Center, MHS, Inc. supported clients in 
developing an artwork display that is reflective of their experiences and trauma. MHS, Inc. is 
working with SDHC and the City of San Diego to capture the “history of this unique experience at 
the Convention Center” by creating a permanent display of the residents’ artwork. It’s been 
proposed that the artwork becomes a mobile art display that travels to locations around the region. 
 
Telecare Tesoro/Convention Center  
On May 1, 2020, Telecare Tesoro was co-located at the Convention Center to accept referrals for 
individuals who met eligibility criteria for Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) and project-based 

Behavioral Health Services 
Director’s Report – April 2021 
Page 4 
 
 

 

housing vouchers through the SDHC. Up to 25 housing vouchers were made available along with 
treatment appointments for guests on site. Telecare Tesoro will cease services at the Convention  
Center effective March 24, 2021, as part of the Convention Center demobilization process but will 
continue to provide ongoing care and support to the enrolled ACT program clients. 
 
Public Health Lodging Sites  
Effective April 1, 2020, several contracts with Telecare were amended to deploy staff to the public 
health lodging sites in partnership with the Public Health Services to provide on-site behavioral 
health services for COVID-19 positive individuals requiring safe isolation. Telecare provides 24/7 
support to the public health lodging site to include crisis intervention, case management, 
treatment/safety planning, coordination with external providers, and discharge planning for 
services. As of March 1, 2021, Telecare had provided services to over 3,000 guests at the public 
health lodging site. 
 
Housing and Homeless Services 
 
Local Government Special Needs Housing Program (SNHP)  
BHS and Mental Health Services Act (MHSA) development partners have begun the lease-up 
process for two new housing developments with dedicated MHSA units: Ivy Senior Apartments and 
Trinity Place. Both will serve seniors (55+) with serious mental illness who are experiencing 
homelessness, and both will provide clients access to project-based housing vouchers through the 
SDHC. 
 
Ivy Senior Apartments (Ivy) is a new construction development that will be located in the Clairemont 
area of San Diego and will have seven units dedicated to MHSA-eligible senior tenants. Trinity 
Place is also a new construction development that will be in the Grantville area of San Diego; the 
development will include 18 MHSA-dedicated senior units. The SNHP provides funding to 
affordable housing developers to create permanent supportive housing units for MHSA-eligible 
clients. Trinity Place and Ivy will be the fifth and sixth developments to become operational that 
were funded, in part, by SNHP. Funded by $20 million in MHSA funds allocated by the BOS, SNHP 
will ultimately lead to the creation of 128 supportive housing units, as well as the augmentation of 
Capitalized Operating Subsidy Reserves (COSR) to maintain the affordability of existing MHSA 
units.  
 
Eligible MHSA tenants are scheduled to move into Trinity Place and Ivy beginning in August and 
October 2021, respectively. The lease-ups will bring the total number of operational MHSA 
permanent supportive housing units to 389. 
 
No Place Like Home (NPLH) 
Valley Senior Village, to be located in Escondido, is the sixth development countywide to receive a 
conditional funding and services commitment through the NPLH program. NPLH provides loans to 
affordable housing developers to create permanent supportive housing units for individuals with a 
serious mental illness (SMI) or severe emotional disturbance (SED) diagnosis who are at risk or 
experiencing homelessness or chronic homelessness. Like SNHP, supportive services for the 
NPLH units will be provided by BHS. Unlike previous MHSA-funded housing programs, NPLH loans 
are administered locally by County Housing and Community Development Services (HCDS). Valley 
Senior Village joins five other developments with NPLH commitments; the other developments will 
be in Downtown San Diego, San Ysidro, Carlsbad, and Chula Vista. The six developments 
combined will contain a total of 172 NPLH-funded units and will be deed-restricted to serve this 

82



Behavioral Health Services 
Director’s Report – April 2021 
Page 5 
 
 

 

population for 55 years. The first NPLH developments are scheduled for completion beginning in 
2022.  
 
The 2nd Round NPLH Notice of Funding Availability is currently open, and additional NPLH funding 
is still available. 
 
Housing Convention Center Resources  
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, BHS has partnered with the SDHC to direct BHS 
associated housing resources to eligible individuals with behavioral health needs who are sheltered 
by Operation Shelter to Home in the City of San Diego, including the Convention Center. In 
December 2020, the SDHC awarded 80 additional sponsor-based subsidies to the BHS-contracted 
Alpha Project Home Finder program to connect individuals to permanent supportive housing. The 
Home Finder program serves clients enrolled in services at BHS outpatient mental health clinics in 
the Central and North Central Regions. Since December, more than 40 clients have already been 
connected to these new subsidies.  
 
The 80 subsidies are in addition to 100 subsidies that were awarded to Home Finder in September 
2018, more than 40 of which were also issued to BHS clients sheltered at the Convention Center. 
 
Drug Medi-Cal Organized Delivery System (DMC–ODS) Updates 
 
Residential: The Way Back  
The Way Back, a residential DMC program serving ASAM LOC 3.1 and 3.5, has modified 
operations to ensure compliance with the Center for Disease Control (CDC) requirements for 
congregate care facilities. The measures taken to ensure the safety of clients and staff include 
hiring additional maintenance staff to sanitize and clean on a more frequent basis, socially 
distancing beds, and chairs in the facility.    
 
During the COVID-19 pandemic, the program has maintained 80% occupancy of the 22 contracted 
beds to serve clients in need of high intensity substance use residential services.     
 
Outpatient: Union of Pan Asian Communities  
Union of Pan Asian Communities (UPAC) Substance Use Outpatient Treatment Program made an 
impressive transition from February 2020 to April 2020 from no telehealth services to offering most 
of their services via telehealth. As of December 2020, 80% of all services were completed utilizing 
telehealth.   
 
While most of UPAC’s client population have access to technology, those who do not or need 
assistance accessing services can visit the clinic and use a laptop that is provided in a sanitized 
area for therapeutic services via telehealth.   
 
UPAC Outpatient Clinic has increased DMC services by 28% compared to data from February 
2020 to December 2020.      
 
Opioid Treatment Program:  SOAP MAT  
The following updates highlight recent accomplishments of the SOAP MAT program: 
 

• Take home exceptions have been submitted and approved for patients per DHCS, DEA, 
and SAMHSA guidelines to reduce possible exposure and infection of COVID-19. Currently 

Behavioral Health Services 
Director’s Report – April 2021 
Page 6 
 
 

 

76% of active patients have take-home medications approved, reducing clinic visits from 
five days a week to once a month. 
 

• Curbside dosing has been offered and implemented for all patients who suspect possible 
exposure/infection or have reported symptoms of COVID-19.   
 

• Telehealth services are being utilized frequently to reduce contact among patients at high 
risk for infection. Telehealth services include intakes, doctor consults with patients, 
counseling, and case management sessions. 
 

• The number of services at SOAP MAT have remained consistent during the COVID-19 
pandemic. There was less than a 3% variance in the number of services available when 
comparing data from February 2020 and August 2020.  
 

• In response to the increase of opioid and fentanyl use, SOAP MAT initiated an outreach 
program at Tri-City Hospital. The program provides information regarding access and 
availability of Opioid Treatment Program (OTP) services.     
 

• SOAP MAT delivered school and art supplies, cleaning products, Personal Protective 
Equipment (PPE) masks and gloves, kitchenware, milk, and miscellaneous goods to Project 
HOPE, a homeless shelter in Vista.  
 

• The program has launched social media campaigns amid the COVID-19 pandemic on 
various platforms with the intention to deliver education on OTPs to a wide audience and 
promote the use of Medication Assisted Treatment.   

 
Medication Assisted Treatment: ACTION East  
The ACTION East Program provides supportive housing services integrated with SMI and 
substance use disorder (SUD) treatment services for homeless individuals in East Region. ACTION 
East operates two treatment program tracks: (1) Short-Doyle/Medi-Cal MHSA Full-Service 
Partnership (FSP) ACT and recovery services; and (2) DMC-certified Alcohol and Other Drug 
(AOD) treatment and recovery services. 
 
ACTION East began offering medication assistance treatment (MAT) services in May 2020, 
adhering to all applicable federal, state, and local guidelines in the administration of FDA-approved 
medications for SUD, including the utilization of long-acting injectable naltrexone. The addition of 
this service has increased care coordination and supports clients in remaining connected to on-site 
care.   
 
Supported Employment  
 
Five-Year Strategic Employment Plan  
Maximizing employment opportunities has been a key goal for the County Behavioral Health 
Services and the new Five-Year Strategic Employment Plan: Fiscal Year 2020 to 2024 (Plan) which 
outlines a clear vision for continued expansion of employment opportunities for people with 
behavioral health issues, including investing in evidence-based and evidence-informed practices 
that are effective in increasing employment. 
 

83



Behavioral Health Services 
Director’s Report – April 2021 
Page 7 
 
 

 

The Plan was developed through in-depth consultation with key community, consumer, and 
business partners, including focus groups and interviews over a three-month period. The Plan 
provides an overview of the County’s investments in behavioral health and employment services 
and the highly prioritized work stemming from the initial Five-Year Strategic Employment Plan 
which launched the “Work Well” initiative in San Diego. In addition, the Plan provides an overview 
of the evidence based best practice of the Individualized Placement and Support (IPS) Model of 
Supported Employment and how it is being implemented locally. As part of the Plan road map, it 
was crucial to include an analysis of priority and emerging sectors and employment opportunities 
in San Diego, outlining key opportunities for employment for people living with behavioral health  
 
issues. The Plan also identifies gaps that must be addressed and potential resources in achieving 
these efforts. 
 
The Plan recommends clear goals, objectives, and strategies which form the foundation to 
maximize employment opportunities and act as key drivers of positive change and greater 
employment outcomes in the coming years. The goals over the next five years are to:  
 

• Expand access to IPS model of supported employment, 
• Engage employers as key partners in the Work Well initiative, 
• Enhance data collection and analysis, 
• Champion peer employment and advocacy to increase peer involvement, and 
• Identify and pursue funding opportunities. 

 
Two components of the Plan are in progress. In February 2021, BHS in collaboration with 
contracted partners San Diego Workforce Partnership (SDWP) and Corporation for Supportive 
Housing (CSH), instituted the plan for data collection through Tableau, a business analytics 
platform. This shift in real time data collection, directly from providers, will enable real time review 
and analysis of program and systemwide performance. The pilot test begins in April 2021 and is 
expected to be fully implemented by July 2021. 
 
Effective March 3, 2021, the ability to expand access to IPS Model of Supported Employment was 
activated through a SDWP Supported Employment / Work Well website that includes links to the 
IPS Model, provides information on the local Work Well initiative and the Plan, and directs 
individuals to the local support services of SDWP.  
 
Justice Involved Services - Collaborative Courts Programs  
 
Drug Court 
Drug Court contracted BHS SUD treatment program works in collaboration with justice partners 
including a Judge, District Attorney, Public Defender, City Attorney, Probation, and Sheriff to 
provide an 18-month, highly structured and monitored treatment program for persons who have 
committed a non-violent drug-related crime and who are at high risk for recidivism and at high need 
for SUD treatment. These programs serve approximately 110 individuals in each court at any given 
time. Emphasis is placed on sobriety, housing, employment, education, and family re-unification. 
Criminal charges may be reduced or dismissed upon successful completion of the program. Drug 
Courts have participated in DMC-ODS since December of 2019. 
 
 
 

Behavioral Health Services 
Director’s Report – April 2021 
Page 8 
 
 

 

Re-entry Court 
Based in the Central Region, Re-entry Court operates similarly to the Drug Court program structure 
in collaboration with BHS contracted service providers and justice partners. This program serves 
up to 60 individuals at a time who have engaged in behavior that has violated their community 
supervision (Probation) and who have been assessed as having a SUD. Some participants also 
suffer from co-occurring mental health disorders. Emphasis is placed on sobriety, housing, 
employment, education, and family re-unification. Successful program completion may result in 
early termination of Probation. 
 
Behavioral Health Court 
Based in the Central Region, Behavioral Health Court (BHC) applies the Collaborative Court model 
for persons who are diagnosed with a SMI and who have engaged in criminal behavior in the 
community. The program was recently augmented with funding from the Department of State 
Hospitals (DSH) and now serves 90 individuals at a time, including 30 “diversion” clients. BHC  
 
provides intensive mental health treatment with concurrent emphasis on sobriety, stable housing, 
linkage to benefits and/or employment, re-unification with family, and employment/education when 
appropriate. Successful program completion may result in the reduction or dismissal of charges. 
 
Other Diversion Programs 
 
Serial Inebriate Program 
Serial Inebriate Program (SIP) is a collaborative effort involving a BHS contracted service provider, 
courts, police, emergency medical services, and hospitals to provide services to “chronically 
homeless inebriates”. The program provides outpatient SUD treatment and housing as an 
alternative to custody for persons who have been sentenced. SIP serves 56 individuals in 
transitional housing with another 65 clients in permanent supportive housing. The SIP program also 
provides case management services for another 100 homeless individuals who are referred to case 
managers by the SDHC. 
 
Inebriate Sobering Center  
Provides a safe alternative to custody for “public inebriates” who need sobering services in lieu of 
arrest. This includes individuals who are under the influence of alcohol and other intoxicants. The 
program keeps persons transported and dropped off by law enforcement for a minimum of 4 hours. 
Persons receiving these services are provided counseling and linked to treatment resources in the 
community once they regain functioning. Multiple contacts in one month result in a mandated 
referral to SIP, described above. 
 
Psychiatric Emergency Response Team (PERT)  
PERT is a collaboration between BHS and law enforcement agencies around the County and pairs 
a licensed mental health clinician with a uniformed law enforcement officer in the field. The PERT 
clinician provides crisis interventions to individuals experiencing a behavioral health crisis. 
Interventions include a mental health and substance use consultation, case coordination, and 
referrals to individuals who come in contact with law enforcement. PERT can transport individuals 
to a hospital or other treatment as appropriate. There are currently 70 PERT teams allocated 
Countywide. PERT is also participating in a pilot that pairs a licensed clinician with an Emergency 
Services Technician to respond to and provide outreach and engagement with individuals who are 
high utilizers of the EMS system. There are currently two PERT EMS teams in Central San Diego. 
 

84



Behavioral Health Services 
Director’s Report – April 2021 
Page 9 
 
 

 

Justice Involved ACT Programs 
 
Center Star ACT 
Utilizes the ACT model of care which provides comprehensive, multi-disciplinary, field-based 
mental health services. Center Star ACT provides these services for homeless, justice-involved 
clients who are diagnosed with SMI and co-occurring disorders. This program operates County-
wide and serves approximately 200 persons at a time with the ability to “step clients down” to a 
lower level of care within the program utilizing a strengths-based case management approach. The 
program has both transitional and long-term housing resources and is funded with MHSA funding. 
 
Vida ACT  
Utilizes the ACT model of care, as described above, to serve clients who are diagnosed with SMI, 
are homeless, may have co-occurring disorders, and who are re-entering the community directly 
from custody. Vida ACT specializes in assessing for criminogenic need and ensuring these needs 
are addressed in the treatment plan along with SMI, SUD, and housing needs. 
 
AB109 Contracted Mental Health Providers 
 
Telecare PROPS ACT  
Utilizes the ACT model of care, as described above, to serve clients diagnosed with SMI and co-
occurring disorders, who have been adjudicated under AB109 and who are supervised by local 
Probation (PRCS/MS). Telecare PROPS ACT has funding for transitional housing along with 
comprehensive mental health services. This program is funded with AB109 re-alignment funds and 
serves 60 clients at any point in time. 
 
Exodus Strengths-Based Case Management  
Provides outpatient mental health services including medication management and strengths-based 
case management. This program has flex funds to cover various needs including temporary 
housing. Participants in this program are referred by Probation and are under supervision as AB109 
offenders. The program serves adults 18 years and older and serves a minimum of 465 clients 
annually. 
 
In-Reach Programs 
 
Project In-Reach  
BHS has partnered with the Sheriff’s Department on the Project In-Reach to engage and serve 
persons who are diagnosed with a SMI and co-occurring disorders and are in custody at County 
jails. The Sheriff identifies persons in need of these services, submits a referral to the program, and 
services begin 30-60 days prior to release into the community. Services include physically assisting 
the client with moving from custody into community-based services. The program continues to 
monitor and support the client for up to 90 days. Emphasis is on the successful transition from 
custody to community and reduction in recidivism. 
 
Wellness Ministry  
Wellness Ministry follows a similar program model to Project In-Reach, with the added element of 
pairing a religious pastor with a mental health clinician providing these services. This program 
serves the same population as described above with the same outcome objectives. Emphasis is 
placed on meeting spiritual needs and linking clients with community religious organizations of their 
choice. 

Behavioral Health Services 
Director’s Report – April 2021 
Page 10 
 
 

 

Other BHS Programs with Justice Intersections  
  
Public Defender Unit  
Public Defender Unit is a collaboration between the Office of the Public Defender and BHS. BHS 
provides funding for clinicians to screen and assess clients needing services for SMI as identified 
and referred by defense attorneys. Embedded clinicians identify the level of mental health need 
and link clients with services in the community, such as ACT and Outpatient Mental Health Clinics. 
In-Home Outreach Team  
In-Home Outreach Teams (IHOT) serve as the starting point of a treatment continuum with the goal 
of linking and connecting individuals with SMI to appropriate services, and if eligible, referring 
individuals to Assisted Outpatient Treatment (AOT). Referrals may come from hospital staff, family 
members, HHSA’s Homeless Outreach Teams, PERT, law enforcement, crisis residential centers, 
jails, etc. Field-based teams generally consist of a licensed clinician, case manager, family support 
specialist, and a peer specialist who work to engage the individual in need in a comfortable setting, 
which allows the team an opportunity to build a relationship of trust. Although this coordinated  
 
approach is typically successful in linking individuals to treatment and other services, there are 
some participants who remain resistant to engagement and may meet the nine criteria under 
Laura’s Law. IHOT may refer an individual for a Laura’s Law evaluation by an AOT Clinician 
(embedded in the IHOT program) if, after several attempts, engagement efforts are unsuccessful. 
The evaluation will determine if the path to court-ordered treatment via AOT is appropriate. 
 

• IHOT Success Story: M was referred by her parents after experiencing acute psychotic 
symptoms, including delusional beliefs, and significant sexual trauma with a history of 
suicide attempts. Upon referral, M met criteria for Laura’s Law as she had more than four 
hospitalizations. During the first several weeks of outreach and engagement, the IHOT staff 
worked on building rapport with M, as well as providing education and support to family 
members. Post-discharge from a recent hospitalization, M continued to present as too 
symptomatic to successfully connect to an existing behavioral health program and was re-
hospitalized. Following that unsuccessful connection, IHOT was able to coordinate care and 
successfully refer the client to AOT services. Currently, M is safe and has been connected 
to treatment, housing, Supplemental Security Income (SSI), and a payee service. She has 
also started the process of strengthening her family relationships.   

 
Assisted Outpatient Treatment  
Once the AOT clinician from the IHOT program has determined an individual appears to meet the 
nine criteria for AOT, they are referred to the AOT program which is a Full-Service Partnership 
(FSP) ACT program. This FSP/ACT program provides a continuum of services with the goal of 
improving the quality of life of participants and supporting them on their path to recovery and 
wellness, as well as preventing decompensation and cycling through acute services (i.e., 
psychiatric hospitalization) and incarceration. Following IHOT involvement, a participant who 
continues to be resistant to treatment may enter the AOT program either voluntarily or through a 
court process, which may include opting to enter voluntarily (via a settlement agreement) or by an 
AOT court-order. Regardless of the way in which an individual is referred, the program relies on a 
highly collaborative, field-based team to provide intensive services to prevent further 
decompensation. 
 
 
 

85



Behavioral Health Services 
Director’s Report – April 2021 
Page 11 
 
 

 

StrengTHS (Therapeutic Healing Services) Central East Regional Recovery Center  
Clients are referred by the Central Court(s) to receive an in-person screening while at the court by 
an In-Court Liaison. Linkage is provided to behavioral health and case management services for 
individuals with a primary substance use disorder or co-occurring mental health condition(s) and 
who have committed an offense impacted by Proposition 47. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
LUKE BERGMANN, Ph.D., Director 
Behavioral Health Services 
 
cc: Dean Arabatzis, Acting Agency Director 
      Cecily Thornton-Stearns, Assistant Director and Chief Program Officer 
      Aurora Kiviat Nudd, Assistant Director and Chief Operations Officer   

86



              

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
April 28, 2021  
 
 
 
TO: The Behavioral Health Advisory Board (BHAB) 
 
FROM: Luke Bergmann, Ph.D., Director, Behavioral Health Services (BHS) 
 
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SERVICES DIRECTOR’S REPORT – May 2021 
 
ACTION ITEM: REPORT BACK ON COMPREHENSIVE COUNTY SUBSTANCE USE HARM 
REDUCTION STRATEGY 
On January 26, 2021 (13), the San Diego County Board of Supervisors (Board) voted to find prior 
Board direction opposing harm reduction programs, including the December 9, 1997 resolution 
entitled “Resolution to Oppose Needle Exchange Programs,” to no longer be in effect. The BOS 
further directed the Chief Administrative Officer to: The BOS further directed the Chief 
Administrative Officer to:  
  

• Create an Action Plan to realize a Syringe Services Program to meet the needs of San 
Diego County’s population, including identification of necessary resources, and program 
partnerships; and in accordance with findings and recommendations in the January 14, 
2021, Health and Human Services Agency (HHSA) memo and accompanied the Family 
Health Centers of San Diego (FHCSD) and San Diego State University’s Institute for Public 
Health (IPH) study, Environmental Assessment on People Who Inject Drugs, and report 
back to the Board with regular updates; and   
 

• Return within 90 days to the BOS with a comprehensive County Substance Use Harm 
Reduction Strategy including immediate, intermediate, and long-term actions that broadens 
the existing “Opioid and Prescription Drug Misuse” strategy to bring a harm reduction 
approach to all substance use interventions across the County.  

  
 
 

NICK MACCHIONE, FACHE 
AGENCY DIRECTOR 

 

HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES AGENCY 
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SERVICES 

3255 CAMINO DEL RIO SOUTH, MAIL STOP P-531 
SAN DIEGO, CA 92108-3806   

(619) 563-2700 • FAX (619) 563-2705 
 

LUKE BERGMANN, Ph.D. 
DIRECTOR, BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SERVICES 

 

Behavioral Health Services 
Director’s Report – May 2021 
Page 2 
 

 
 

 
On June 8, 2021, Behavioral Health Services and Public Health Services will return to the BOS 
with a recommendation to receive the report back on this direction, noting that the Syringe Services 
Action Plan is a component of the Harm Reduction Strategy.  
 
It is THEREFORE, staff’s recommendation that your Board vote to support the 
authorizations and approvals needed to advance the recommendation in this Board Letter.  
 
LIVE WELL SAN DIEGO UPDATES / SPECIAL EVENTS 
 
Upcoming Events 
 
National Prescription Drug Take Back Day 
On Saturday, April 24, 2021, several locations throughout the county participated in the DEA’s 
semi-annual National Prescription Drug Take Back Day which provides a safe way to dispose of 
expired, unused, or unwanted prescription drugs safely and anonymously.  

 
This year’s event also encouraged the community to consider disposing of unused animal 
medications. District Attorney Summer Stephan spoke at a media event on April 19, 2021 to 
encourage the community to safeguard animal medications and dispose of them safely when no 
longer needed.  
 
May Is Mental Health Month 2021  
Since 1949, there has been a national movement in May to raise awareness on mental health and 
provide resources to the community with the goal of reducing stigma for those experiencing mental 
health conditions. This year’s theme, “Hope for Change”, draws our attention to the present 
moment, allows us to reflect on the growth we’ve experienced, and move toward the future. The 
County of San Diego, along with the larger community who support loved ones with mental health 
conditions, will once again focus on raising awareness, offering support, and sharing local 
resources. 

 
To maintain safety and comply with public health orders, all events this year will continue to be 
virtual. Many activities will be on social media where participants can all meaningfully connect. Visit 
the BHS May Is Mental Health Month (MIMHM) webpage 
(www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/sdc/hhsa/programs/bhs/mimhm_resources) for activity ideas, 
resources, and a calendar that includes information on community events. Providers and 
community organizations are encouraged to submit planned activities in recognition of MIMHM for 
inclusion on the events calendar. Submissions can be sent to Nancy Page 
(nancy.page@sdcounty.ca.gov). 
 
Children and Youth Mental Health Awareness Day Celebration - May 7, 2021 
The BHS Children, Youth, and Families (CYF) System of Care unit is partnering with the National 
Alliance on Mental Illness (NAMI) San Diego to recognize the importance of children and youth 

87



Behavioral Health Services 
Director’s Report – May 2021 
Page 3 
 

 
 

mental health with a special virtual gathering that will use art to engage children and youth who are 
living with serious challenges and their families. This event is to serve as a reminder that we can 
be physically distanced and remain socially connected.  
 
For registration and other information on the event, visit the BHS May Is Mental Health Month 
webpage (www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/sdc/hhsa/programs/bhs/mimhm_resources) and click 
on the calendar. 
 
UPDATES FROM THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY PSYCHIATRIC HOSPITAL (SDCPH) 
 
Medical Leadership Excellence 
Dr. Ariana Nesbit-Bartsch: In December 2020, San Diego County Psychiatric Hospital welcomed 
Dr. Ariana Nesbit-Bartsch as the new Medical Director. Dr. Nesbit-Bartsch attended the University 
of Vermont College of Medicine, where she won awards for her research and outstanding academic 
achievement and was inducted into the Alpha Omega Alpha Honor Medical Society. After medical 
school, Dr. Nesbit-Bartsch completed a psychiatry residency at Harvard Medical School’s 
Cambridge Health Alliance Program, where she spent her third year working at an integrated 
specialty clinic for individuals with serious and persistent mental illness. During residency, she also 
graduated from Harvard Medical School’s Master of Bioethics program and was named a 
Rappeport Fellow by the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law. She then received 
specialty fellowship training in forensic psychiatry at the University of California, Davis. 
 
Dr. Nesbit-Bartsch has co-authored multiple textbook chapters on psychiatric ethics and forensic 
psychiatry. She has also written about and presented on a variety of topics including involuntary 
psychiatric treatment, antisocial personality disorder, schizophrenia, violence risk assessment, and 
malingering. She has historically worked at multiple correctional facilities and as a Forensic 
Psychiatric Consultant at Napa State Hospital. She is a Councilor of the American Academy of 
Psychiatry and the Law (AAPL) and co-chairs AAPL’s Early Career Development and Peer Review 
of Psychiatric Testimony Committees. Additionally, Dr. Nesbit-Bartsch is a consulting member of 
the ethics committee of the American Psychiatric Association.   
 
Dr. David Folsom: SDCPH is delighted to host Dr. David Folsom, the prior Medical and Training 
Director of St. Vincent DePaul’s Federally Qualified Health Center, and prior Clinical Director for 
UCSD’s Department of Psychiatry. In his role at SDCPH, Dr. Folsom has been working on the front 
lines in the Emergency Psychiatric Unit (EPU), Crisis Recovery Unit (CRU), and attending SDCPH 
clinical leadership activities. SDCPH has benefited immensely from Dr. Folsom’s wealth of 
expertise and experience, and he has been instrumental in bolstering connections to the University 
of California San Diego (UCSD) clinical services for SDCPH patients in need.  
 
Psychiatric Management of Patients in a Pandemic  
The length and severity of the pandemic has required SDCPH to be creative and flexible with an 
ongoing approach to combine effective infection control and active psychiatric treatment. In 
December, as COVID-19 cases were increasing in our community and in the hospital, SDCPH 

Behavioral Health Services 
Director’s Report – May 2021 
Page 4 
 

 
 

pivoted to dedicate one of the units at the hospital to specifically treat COVID-19 positive patients. 
This afforded many clinical benefits, including opportunities for outdoor programming including 
meetings with patient treatment teams, reduced isolation among COVID-19 positive patients, and 
better infection control.  
 
Additionally, aware of our mission as community partner and as a public safety net hospital, SDCPH 
has played a critical role in serving as a resource to our partners and thereby reducing pressures 
on local hospital systems as they experienced the impacts of COVID-19. 
 
Over the past month, SDCPH has been working with our partners at County Public Health Services 
to provide COVID-19 vaccines to patients in our hospital. SDCPH nurses have been trained on 
how to administer these vaccines, which has helped support efforts to offer vaccines to our longer-
term patients.  
 
Enhanced Care Coordination 
SDCPH, in collaboration with BHS Case Management and NAMI Next Steps, is excited to launch 
a new pilot project for enhanced care coordination. Informed by the Whole Person Wellness, the 
goal is to identify clients at the hospital who are experiencing cumulative clinical and social difficulty 
due to mixed behavioral health and primary/specialty care needs, compounded by homelessness.  
A new enhanced care coordination team will begin working with these clients to connect them to 
the various clinical resources and community supports needed for improved outcomes. IT 
infrastructure will be developed to assist with tracking client outcomes and the advanced clinical 
oversight. This pilot will then inform broader efforts to transition patients from Whole Person 
Wellness into the new CalAIM structure, which will include Enhanced Care Management. 
 
UPDATES FROM EDGEMOOR DISTINCT PART SKILLED NURSING FACILITY (Edgemoor) 
 
COVID-19 Update 
The COVID-19 pandemic continues to be at the forefront of operations at Edgemoor. Edgemoor 
continues to follow and implement the guidance of various local, state, and federal health 
organizations. Some of the precautions implemented include visitor restrictions; residents 
quarantined to the facility and connecting patios; entrance screenings which include temperature 
checks; masking; on-going staff education; communication with resident and families/responsible 
representatives; and testing of residents, staff, and contractors.  
 
COVID-19 Vaccine Distribution 
Edgemoor partnered with CVS Pharmacy to administer COVID-19 vaccinations on-site as part of 
the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) Pharmacy Partnership Program for skilled nursing facilities.  
Vaccination clinics were held on January 4, January 5, January 25, January 26, February 15, and 
February 16. During these clinics, Edgemoor was able to fully vaccinate approximately 74% of staff 
and 94% of residents with the Pfizer vaccine. 
 
 

88



Behavioral Health Services 
Director’s Report – May 2021 
Page 5 
 

 
 

 
Facility Improvements 
Edgemoor’s solar installation project is complete and the facility is currently partially powered by 
solar energy. 
 
UPDATE FROM THE ADULT AND OLDER ADULT (AOA) SYSTEM OF CARE 
 
Vista Crisis Stabilization Unit (CSU) 
On March 26, 2019, the BOS approved a recommendation to enhance the existing Walk-in Urgent 
Center in the city of Vista, which is operated by Exodus Recovery Inc., to provide specialized 
community-based, crisis stabilization services.  
 
On November 17, 2020, the BOS approved the execution of an agreement between the County of 
San Diego, the City of Vista, and Exodus Recovery, Inc. which upon agreement of all parties, grants 
Exodus a special use permit to operationalize a Crisis Stabilization Unit (CSU) in the city of Vista.  
 
The CSU is a community-based urgent care center for psychiatric emergency services with a length 
of stay under 24-hours. The CSU provides crisis intervention, psychiatric assessments, medication 
services, care coordination and peer support with the goal of stabilizing clients in the community. 
The CSU will collaborate with law enforcement in the region, as appropriate. Services at the Vista 
CSU are anticipated to begin by summer 2021. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
 
 

LUKE BERGMANN, Ph.D., Director 
Behavioral Health Services 
 
cc:  Nick Macchione, Agency Director 
 Cecily Thornton-Stearns, Assistant Director and Chief Program Officer 
 Aurora Kiviat, Assistant Director and Chief Operations Officer   

89



Legal Aid Society San Diego, INC. 

Legal Aid attorneys and advocates provide free services 

for children with qualifying disabilities who:

• Are U.S. Citizens, asylees, or

refugees;

• Reside in San Diego County;

• Are currently receiving care from a 
medical professional;

• Are not working or are earning less

than $1,310/month; and

• Meet certain income and resource

requirements

We can help with all stages of the SSI Application Process: 

● Initial Appeal ● Reconsideration appeal

● Administrative law judge hearing ● Appeals Council appeal

● Federal District Court appeal ● Termination

● Age 18 redetermination

Examples of 

Qualifying 

Disabilities: 

ADHD 

Autism Spectrum 

Disorder 

Depression 

Bipolar disorder 

Anxiety 

Oppositional defiant 

disorder 

Mood dysregulation 

disorder 

PTSD 

Eating disorder 

Intellectual disorder 

Global developmental 

delay 

Cerebral Palsy 

Epilepsy 

Example  

 

All our services are free. For more information, call: (844) 774-5463 

Program funded by the County of San Diego 

90



DEEMING ELIGIBILITY CHART FOR CHILDREN IN CALIFORNIA FOR 2021

Gross monthly income below the dollar amounts shown means a disabled child 

may be eligible for SSI benefits.  

Amounts given are general guidelines only. 

Number of 
ineligible 

children in 
household 

One parent in 
household 

Two parents in 
household  

One parent in 
household  

Two parents in 
household  

0 $3,257 $4,041 $1,606 $1,998

1 $3,649 $4,433 $1,998 $2,390

2 $4,041 $4,825 $2,390 $2,782

3 $4,433 $5,217 $2,782 $3,174

All income is earned All income is unearned 

*Examples of earned income include wages and net earnings from self-employment.

**Examples of unearned income include unemployment compensation, state disability, 
pensions, Social Security retirement benefits, and interest income.

91



 Legal Aid Society San Diego, Inc. 

Los abogados y defensores de Legal Aid proveen servicios 

GRATUITOS para niños hasta la edad de 18 quienes:  

• Cumplan con ciertos requisitos de ingreso

y recursos,

Y 

• Hayan sido diagnosticados con ciertas

discapacidades mentales o físicas, y

• Están recibiendo tratamiento de un 
medico profesional.

AL PRESENTE ESTAMOS EVALUANDO A PERSONAS QUE 
CALIFIQUEN PARA LOS BENEFICIOS DE SSI Y TAMBIÉN 
ESTAMOS REALIZANDO ENTREVISTAS TELEFÓNICAS

Podemos ayudarle con todas las etapas del Proceso de Solicitud de SSI: 

● Solicitud Inicial ● Apelación de Reconsideración

● Audiencia ante un Juez de Ley Administrativa ● Apelaciones de la

Solicitud del Consejo para Revisión ● Revisión de Continua 

Discapacidad  ● Redeterminación  

Ejemplos de 

Discapacidades 

Aceptables: 

   ADHD 

Trastornos del Espectro 

Autista 

Depresión 

Trastorno Bipolar 

Ansiedad 

Trastorno de     

Oposición Desafiante 

Trastorno de 

Desregulación del 

Estado de Ánimo 

PTSD 

Trastorno de la 

Alimentación 

Trastorno Intelectual 

Retraso Global del 

Desarrollo 

Todos nuestros servicios son gratuitos. Para mayor información, llame al: 

(844) 774-5463 

Programa financiado por el Condado de San Diego 

92



GRÁFICA DE ELEGIBILIDAD CONSIDERADA PARA NIÑOS EN 

CALIFORNIA POR EL 2021

El ingreso bruto mensual por debajo de las cantidades mostradas indica que un 

niño(a) discapacitado(a) quizás sea elegible para los beneficios de SSI.  

Las cantidades dadas son sólo guías generales. 

Número de 
niños no 

elegibles en 
el hogar 

Un padre en el hogar Dos padres en el 
hogar  

Un padre en el 
hogar 

Dos padres en el hogar 

0 $3,257 $4,041 $1,606 $1,998

1 $3,649 $4,433 $1,998 $2,390

2 $4,041 $4,825 $2,390 $2,782

3 $4,433 $5,217 $2,782 $3,174

Todo el ingreso es de trabajo Todo el ingreso no es de trabajo 

93



 

 

Need to talk? Call the Warm Line! (855) 845-7415 
Click Here to Learn More 

 

The California Youth Empowerment Network (CAYEN) was formed to develop, improve and 
strengthen the voice of Transition Age Youth (TAY) in local and state-level policy. 
 
CAYEN engages youth and young adults who been touched in some way by the mental health, 
juvenile justice or foster care systems. They are passionate people – consumers, family members 
and friends of people living with a mental illness. 
We are firm believers that their personal experience,education and employment give them a credible, 
passionate and true voice to the challenges and successes of the TAY population. Through CAYEN 
they receive the support, training and skills to bring their voices to policy and program discussions. 

We believe that Transition Age Youth (TAY) must have their voices heard because: 
• Their experience matters 
• They help create better systems 
• They bring passion and dedication 
• They are experts in the youth experience 

 
Join the CAYEN Action Network 
 
Through our Action Network mailing list we will let you know about pieces of legislation that impact 
youth and young adults, send you advocacy alerts, and will provide templates of letters for you to 
send to your legislators. We will help you figure out when and how to make your voice heard in the 
Capital and in other advocacy forums! 
Also, when issues arise in mental health policy and CAYEN is going to take an official advocacy 
stance, we often poll the Action Network to get feedback on the issue. Through participating in our 
occasional survey, you will have the opportunity to ensure that CAYEN is representing your 
voice! Join the CAYEN Action Network… 
 
 
 

For more information on CAYEN: https://ca-yen.org/ 
 

94

https://www.mentalhealthsf.org/peer-run-warmline/
https://www.mentalhealthsf.org/peer-run-warmline/
https://ca-yen.org/contact/join-the-cayen-action-network/
https://ca-yen.org/contact/join-the-cayen-action-network/
https://ca-yen.org/


Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Archives of Psychiatric Nursing

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/apnu

Beyond the ACE score: Examining relationships between timing of
developmental adversity, relational health and developmental outcomes in
children
Erin P. Hambricka,b,⁎, Thomas W. Brawnera,c, Bruce D. Perrya,d, Kristie Brandta,e,
Christine Hofmeisterb, Jen O. Collinsb

a The ChildTrauma Academy, 5161 San Felipe Street, #320, Houston, TX 77056, USA
b University of Missouri – Kansas City, Department of Psychology, 5030 Cherry Street, Room 211, Kansas City, MO 64114, USA
c University of Kansas, Center for Research Methods and Data Analysis, 1425 Jayawk Boulevard, 470 Watson Library, Lawrence, KS 66045-7556, USA
d Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Department of Psychiatry, Chicago, IL, USA
e University of California Davis School of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, 2516 Stockton Blvd, Sacramento, CA 95817, USA

A R T I C L E I N F O

Keywords:
Child trauma
Adverse childhood experiences
Social support
Early-life stress
Regularization
Neurosequential Model

A B S T R A C T

Background: The association between developmental adversity and children's functioning is complex, particu-
larly given the multifaceted nature of adverse experiences. The association between the timing of experience and
outcomes is underresearched and clinically under-appreciated. We examine how the timing of both adverse
(including potentially traumatic) events and relational poverty are associated with developmental outcomes.
Method: Clinicians using the Neurosequential Model of Therapeutics (NMT), an approach to clinical problem
solving, reported on the timing of children's developmental experiences, their degree of current relational health,
and current functioning in key brain-mediated domains (N= 3523 6- to 13-year-old children). A regularized
hierarchical model produced stable and generalizable estimates regarding associations between the timing of
experiences across four developmental periods: Perinatal (0–2 mos), Infancy (2–12 mos), Early Childhood (13
mos to 4 years), and Childhood (4 to 11 years) and current functioning.
Results: Perinatal developmental experiences were more strongly associated with compromised current func-
tioning than such experiences occurring during other periods. Perinatal relational poverty was a stronger pre-
dictor than perinatal adversity. During subsequent developmental periods, the influence of relational poverty
diminished, while the influence of adversity remained strong throughout early childhood. Current relational
health, however, was the strongest predictor of functioning.
Conclusion: Findings expand the understanding of the association between the timing of adversity and re-
lationally impoverished experiences and children's functioning. Although early life experiences are significantly
impactful, relationally enriched environments may buffer these effects.

Introduction

In 1998, a landmark epidemiological study, the Adverse Childhood
Experiences (ACEs) Study, was published (Felitti et al., 1998). While
associations between maltreatment in childhood and a range of detri-
mental outcomes were well known in clinical and academic commu-
nities, the ACE study helped to catalyze a broader public and systemic
awareness of the detrimental impact of ‘adversity’ on physical health,
mental health, social functioning, health risk behaviors, and life ex-
pectancy. Awareness of “ACEs” has been a central component of

‘trauma-informed’ policy, program development and practice changes.
Screening for childhood adversity, often using the 10–12 question ACE
inventory, is more prevalent now than a decade ago, across a wide
range of human service providers (Burke Harris, Silvério Marques, Oh,
Bucci, & Cloutier, 2017). One of the features of the ACE study that
makes public engagement effective is the simplicity and clarity of the
dose-dependent correlations seen between the number of adversities in
childhood and risk for negative outcomes in adult life (Anda et al.,
2006). This simplicity, however, can lead to misunderstanding. Corre-
lation and causality become conflated as ACE ‘awareness’ spreads into

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2018.11.001
Received 3 July 2018; Received in revised form 20 September 2018; Accepted 6 November 2018

⁎ Corresponding author at: The ChildTrauma Academy, 5161 San Felipe Street, #320, Houston, TX 77056, USA.
E-mail addresses: hambricke@umkc.edu (E.P. Hambrick), thomasbrawner@gmail.com (T.W. Brawner), bdperry@childtrauma.org (B.D. Perry),

dr.kristiebrandt@sbcglobal.net (K. Brandt), crk535@mail.umkc.edu (C. Hofmeister), jennifercollins@mail.umkc.edu (J.O. Collins).

Archives of Psychiatric Nursing 33 (2019) 238–247

0883-9417/ © 2018 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

T

Click HERE to view full article 

95

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/08839417
https://www.elsevier.com/locate/apnu
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2018.11.001
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2018.11.001
mailto:hambricke@umkc.edu
mailto:thomasbrawner@gmail.com
mailto:bdperry@childtrauma.org
mailto:dr.kristiebrandt@sbcglobal.net
mailto:crk535@mail.umkc.edu
mailto:jennifercollins@mail.umkc.edu
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2018.11.001
http://crossmark.crossref.org/dialog/?doi=10.1016/j.apnu.2018.11.001&domain=pdf
despejo
Highlight

https://www.psychiatricnursing.org/article/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/fulltext


non-academic and lay audiences, including those making practice,
program and policy decisions in child-serving systems (e.g., medical,
education, social services, mental health). Public awareness about the
potential impact of adversity and trauma on development is important,
yet knowing that these matter is only the first step in the informed
creation of programs, practice and policy to address the physical, social
and emotional morbidity associated with developmental adversity.

A primary challenge is that human development is not simple; the
current emotional, social, cognitive and physiological functioning of
each individual is influenced by myriad factors ranging from genetics to
developmental experiences and context. Clinically relevant questions
persist regarding the ways in which developmental experience shapes
functional outcomes. Going beyond the ACE score is essential to inform
practice, programs and incorporate what is known about: 1) the timing
of adversity; 2) the pattern of developmental stress and distress; and 3)
the presence of attenuating and resilience-related factors. Further, it is
imperative to continue more granular examinations of the complex
effects of development on experience.

Babies are born experience-dependent. They require developmental
experience to express underlying genetic potentials in all brain-medi-
ated domains of functioning. Decades of research indicate that disrup-
tions in typical development are associated with negative experiences
such as chronic (Felitti et al., 1998) or severe (Jackson, Gabrielli,
Fleming, Tunno, & Makanui, 2014) trauma and adversity (henceforth
adversity), and with a range of negative outcomes, including beha-
vioral, emotional, social, and cognitive (Bos, Fox, Zeanah, & Nelson,
2009; McDermott et al., 2013; Schatz, Smith, Borkowski, Whitman, &
Keogh, 2008). In contrast, attentive attuned and responsive caregiving
paired with cognitive and social enrichment is associated with positive
outcomes in these domains (Masten & Coatsworth, 1998). Similarly,
positive relationships, or social support, appear to buffer the effects of
developmental adversity (Dai et al., 2016; Ludy-Dobson & Perry, 2010).
Yet, the complexities of development, the timing, nature and pattern of
adversity, the relational context in which adversity is experienced, and
the heterogeneity of responses to adversity create theoretical and
methodological challenges to understanding the myriad effects of de-
velopmental adversity.

Developmental psychopathology suggests that multiple dimensions
of adversity, including type, timing, severity, frequency, chronicity, and
the child's developmental status when the adversity occurs, are inter-
related and uniquely meaningful for developmental outcomes
(Cicchetti & Toth, 1995; Claessens et al., 2011). An infant whose
caregivers are not attuned and attentive, but instead unpredictable or
even threatening in their response to their child's cries during the first
year after birth may have significantly different outcomes than an
adolescent who is sexually abused by a stranger, but otherwise lives
(and has lived) in a relationally-enriched environment. Though there
are multiple dimensions of adverse experiences, timing appears to be a
key – and under-researched – dimension that may influence the types of
adverse experiences most likely to disrupt typical developmental tra-
jectories, and the types of positive experiences most likely to promote
optimal development.

Organizational theories of development suggest that children's
current functioning is highly influenced by experiences during early
developmental periods (Perry, 2001; Sroufe & Rutter, 1984). Develop-
mental trajectories negatively impacted by adversity in early life jeo-
pardize functions emerging later in life that will be constructed on these
poorly organized developmental systems (Dunn, Nishimi, Powers, &
Bradley, 2017). Consequently, experiences occurring early in life, par-
ticularly during the first year, can be devastating or protective (Schore,
2001). Evidence for this is seen in both animal and human research.
Studies examining grooming behaviors of mouse and rat dams toward
their pups suggest that maternal behaviors (licking/grooming and ar-
ched-back nursing) in the first weeks of a pup's life can alter pup DNA
expression (Bedrosian, Quayle, Novaresi, & Gage, 2018; McGowan
et al., 2009). Studies of institutionalized children are perhaps the most

recognizable examples of the idea that early adversity, characterized by
a profound lack of developmentally stimulating experience in the first
year(s) of life, can have a lasting impact in cognitive, affective, and
social/emotional domains (McDermott et al., 2013; Zeanah, Smyke,
Koga, Carlson, & The Bucharest Early Intervention Project Core Group,
2005).

The notion that the timing of developmental experience matters is
not new. Studies show that child maltreatment occurring during the
first few years of life is associated with the severity of internalizing and
externalizing problems during middle childhood (Manly, Kim, Rogosch,
& Cicchetti, 2001). Adversity during the first five years of life is more
predictive of maladaptive outcomes during adulthood, including risk
for depressive or posttraumatic stress disorders (Dunn et al., 2017) and
the severity of posttraumatic stress disorders (Ogle, Rubin, & Siegler,
2013), than is adversity occurring later in life.

There are, however, limitations to the available research on the
timing of adversity. On one hand, the examination of timing has not
been fine-grained, especially with regard to experiences very early in
life. This is problematic because the rate of development is greatest
during the first few months of life, sharply declining as a child ages in a
logarithmic fashion (Johnson, 2001). Research collapsing trauma oc-
curring during the first five or even three years of life still yields im-
precise results regarding exactly when exposure to adversity or lack of
developmentally positive experiences is most detrimental. Clearly, ad-
versity during any developmental period can be detrimental, including
adolescence (Crane & Clements, 2005), another time of rapid organi-
zational change in the brain (Paus, 2005). Little research has been
conducted on the relative impact of adversity or relational poverty
during the first months of life compared to adversity occurring during
later developmental periods. As such, it is unclear, for example, how the
outcomes of children whose adversity occurs later in childhood, but not
during infancy, compares to children whose adversity occurs during
infancy, but not later in childhood.

The timing of relationally healthy experiences may also have im-
plications for children's functioning due to the relative importance of
certain types of positive caregiving experiences during infancy as op-
posed to childhood. The first few years of life are sensitive periods for
children's acquisition of healthy attachment relationships (Zeanah,
Smyke, Koga, & Carlson, 2005). Children require consistent, patterned,
nurturing experiences with caregivers to form relationships that serve
as templates for psychosocial functioning throughout development.
Moreover, attuned caregiving during infancy provides the context in
which affiliative, self-regulatory and ultimately higher-order cognitive
capacities, such as the ability to plan, reason, and judge, form.

Not only can a lack of relational health, (i.e., ‘connectedness’; es-
sentially the presence of attuned caregivers, family members, mentors,
teachers, and community members), itself be considered adversity, but
when trauma occurs in the context of relational poverty, or an overall
lack of attachment or otherwise meaningfully supportive relationships,
the negative consequences for children can be amplified. Conversely,
the effects of adversity are likely attenuated in relationally-rich en-
vironments. One study linking the severity of childhood maltreatment
to the severity of posttraumatic stress symptoms (PTSS) in adulthood
(Evans, Steel, & Dilillo, 2013) found that high levels of perceived fa-
milial social support buffered the development of PTSS among those
whose maltreatment severity was low or moderate. A study examining
social support among inner-city adult victims of interpersonal trauma
found that high levels of social support buffered the “cumulative im-
pact” of interpersonal victimization occurring in both childhood and
adulthood (Schumm, Briggs-Phillips, & Hobfoll, 2006). The association
between exposure to adversity and mental and physical health pro-
blems in adulthood is attenuated when individuals report having at
least one consistently available adult throughout childhood (Bellis
et al., 2017).

Outcomes typically explored when examining how and when ad-
versity may pose risk include DSM diagnoses, or derivatives of common

E.P. Hambrick et al. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing 33 (2019) 238–247

239 96



diagnoses, such as “internalizing and externalizing problems” (Dunn
et al., 2017; Ogle et al., 2013). While there is nothing inherently wrong
with either approach, adversity notably leads to heterogeneous out-
comes (Toth & Cicchetti, 2013). Reliance on any one diagnostic cate-
gory or symptom subset may restrict identification of the various ways
that trauma, adversity, and relational poverty influence development.
Study of these complexities in human populations requires very large
samples.

To explore these issues, a large dataset collected for clinical pur-
poses by clinicians using the Neurosequential Model of Therapeutics
(NMT) was utilized (Perry, 2009; Perry & Dobson, 2013; Perry &
Hambrick, 2008). The NMT examines the nature, timing and severity of
both adverse experiences (AE) and relational health (RH), as well as a
child's current functioning in multiple central nervous system-mediated
developmental domains (e.g., clinician-rated sleep, arousal, concrete
cognition) and the current degree of “connectedness” (Section 0 con-
tains description about the NMT & NMT Metrics). Given the specifica-
tions of AE and RH clinicians provide across several developmental
stages, and the number of metrics available (approximately 30,000),
this dataset provided a unique opportunity to evaluate associations
between the timing of developmental experience and current func-
tioning.

We hypothesized that profound AE occurring perinatally (0 to
2 months) and during infancy (2 to 12 months) would account for more
variance in the current functioning of 6- to 13-year-olds than profound
AE occurring during early childhood (13 months to 4 years) or child-
hood (4 to 11 years). Further, we predicted that a profound lack of RH
would be most detrimental during the perinatal period than during any
other period, a time when a child's optimal growth and development
are heavily reliant on external regulation and touch (Beeghly, Perry, &
Tronick, 2016). On the other hand, we expected profound AE to be
highly detrimental during infancy and early childhood - a time when
children become more capable of discerning stressors in their en-
vironment, yet are still forming the foundations for emerging devel-
opmental capacities.

Method

Study design

Data collected by clinicians using the Clinical Practice Tools (NMT
Metrics, see Measures section) associated with the NMT (Perry, 2009),
were used. De-identified NMT Metric data were downloaded from the
web-based repository of data tracked by the ChildTrauma Academy
(NMT developers) as part of their quality improvement initiatives. The
Institutional Review Board at the (blinded for review) deemed this
study “Not Human Subjects Research.” Below is a brief description of
the NMT to contextualize the data.

The NMT is an approach to clinical problem solving that allows
clinicians to catalogue the child's developmental history and current
functioning using the web-based Clinical Practice Tools (NMT Metrics).
The output report provides clinicians with information for intervention
planning including: 1) historical and current Adverse Experiences,
Relational Health and Developmental Risk; 2) current central nervous
system functioning; and, 3) five functional domains of sensory in-
tegration, self-regulation, relational, cognitive, and cortical modulation
ratio. The NMT has been named an “emerging practice” by the National
Quality Improvement Center for Adoption/Guardianship Support and
Preservation (QIC-AG.org). More information on the NMT and the use
of the Metrics has been detailed in previous publications (Perry, 2014;
Perry & Hambrick, 2008).

To complete the metrics, clinicians must report on the timing, se-
verity, and type of a child's AE across several developmental periods,
from the prenatal period through the current age of the index client
being assessed. The developmental periods relevant to this study are:
Perinatal (birth to two months), Infancy (2 to 12 months), Early

Childhood (13 months to 4 years), Childhood (4 to 11 years). Clinicians
then report on the quality of RH in like manner. These developmental
periods are not exhaustive, but were selected by NMT developers to
balance two objectives: 1) ease of clinician Metric use (if clinicians
cannot complete Metrics efficiently, the metrics will likely go unused),
and 2) age groups that allow for the most specificity during very early
development (i.e., the first three years of life), when child development
proceeds almost logrithmically (Johnson, 2001).

Next, clinicians report on a child's current functioning in 32 brain-
or CNS-mediated domains, spanning self-regulatory, cognitive, rela-
tional, and sensorimotor functioning. These domains are subsumed
under the broad category “CNS Functioning”. Clinicians are provided
with extensive training in metric use throughout the certification pro-
cess (Phase I certification is approximately 150 h). NMT Trainers from
the ChildTrauma Academy conduct biannual Fidelity Exercises, where
Metric users are given hypothetical case-based data with which to
complete the metrics. Clinician performance in the Fidelity Exercise
yields a fidelity rating of None, Low, Acceptable, or High. This fidelity
rating is a reflection of the degree of interrater reliability between the
clinician and NMT developers. Clinicians whose metrics were included
in this study were NMT Phase I Certified or in advanced stages of
completing this certification process, and had achieved a rating of
“acceptable” or “high” in the Fidelity exercises during the period of
time from which study metrics were completed and included.

Participants

For this study, NMT Metric data from 3523 children ages 6 to
13 years old seeking behavioral health services with histories of de-
velopmental adversity were analyzed. Descriptive data regarding
gender and race/ethnicity are in Table 1. Data were collected from
clinicians across 190 diverse clinical “sites” across the US, Canada,
Europe, and Australia. Because both sites and individuals can be cer-
tified in the NMT, the majority of the “sites” (approximately 100) were
a single clinician, while other sites contained ratings from many clin-
icians. Each site provides their estimated ratio of client settings to the
NMT developers. Most sites are primarily outpatient, while some are a
mixture of outpatient and residential/inpatient. One site was comprised
of metrics completed by the NMT developers. At all sites, a percentage

Table 1
Descriptives.

Typical sample

CNS Functioning (M, SD) 297.09 (41.19)
N 425

Clinical sample

CNS Functioning (M, SD) 231.53 (39.63)
Female (%) 33.6
White (%) 42.1
Asian (%) 1.2
Black (%) 15.7
Hispanic (%) 7.6
Native American (%) 1.6
Other (%) 16.0
N 3834

Note. CNS = central nervous system. Typical CNS Functioning
scores were obtained from metrics completed on children and
youth well known to the clinician who have no obvious or known
cognitive, mental, social or motor problem requiring ‘clinical’ in-
tervention. As part of the NMT certification process, clinicians are
asked to complete metrics on “typical” individuals to learn how to
navigate the web-based app, and learn more about the items and
anchors of the metrics. “Typical” children, youth and adults may
have had some developmental adversity.

E.P. Hambrick et al. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing 33 (2019) 238–247

240 97

http://QIC-AG.org


of patients were child welfare involved, ranging from 10 to 100%. Exact
clinician characteristics are unknown. However, all NMT-certificated
clinicians must have a masters degree in a relevant clinical discipline
(e.g., nursing, social work, educational psychology, psychology) and
have an active license. Approximately 80% of NMT clinicians have
masters degrees, while the remainder have more advanced (e.g, Ph.D.,
Psy.D., DNP, M.D.) degrees. The NMT certification process is 150 h long
and includes specific training on how to understand the Part C (CNS
functioning) descriptors and anchors used to score various CNS-medi-
ated functions.

Measures

NMT Metrics
The NMT Metrics are divided into four parts: Part A (Developmental

Adversity; AE), Part B (Developmental Relational Health; RH), Part C
(Central Nervous System (CNS) Functioning: Current), and Part D
(Current Relational Health). Although the metrics are only completed
by clinicians, clinicians are instructed to use information from clinical
interviews, child welfare case files, observations of child/family, med-
ical records, psychosocial assessments, etc. while completing them.

In Part A (AE), clinicians report whether a child experienced a range
of potentially traumatic and/or adverse experiences during the fol-
lowing periods: Perinatal (0 to 2 months), Infancy (2 to 12 months),
Early Childhood (13 months to four years), and Childhood (4 to
11 years). The six experiences assessed per developmental period are
quality of primary caregiving, caregiver drug/alcohol use, neglect,
domestic violence, transitions/chaos and “other trauma (e.g., natural
disaster, gun violence).” Clinicians rate the severity of each experience
from 1 to 12, ranging from None/Minimal (1–3), Mild (4–6), Moderate
(7–9), to Severe (10−12). When clinicians are uncertain about a child's
experience, they are instructed to provide a “neutral” score (6 or 7), use
clinical reconstruction to estimate if the score should be marked up
(more severe) or down (less severe) by a few points given what is
known about the overall nature of the child's early experiences, and
ultimately to underestimate the potential risk. Given these scoring in-
structions, scores falling in the range of 10 to 12 are highly likely to
reflect documented, profoundly severe adversities.

In Part B (RH), clinicians report on the quality of a child's re-
lationships across the same developmental periods. The six experiences
assessed per period are primary caregiver safety, primary caregiver
attunement, consistency in primary caregiving, paternal (or partner)
support, kinship support, and community support on a scale of 1–12
from Poor (1–3), Episodic (4–6), Adequate (7–9), to Positive (10–12).
These items are meant to assess quality of caregiving and overall “social
support” but also, particularly in early developmental periods, risk for
attachment disruption. The same scoring instructions are used to
complete Parts A (AE) and Part B (RH). Part B scores ranging from 1 to
3 are likely to indicate profound absence of RH. Although some items in
the Part A and Part B scales are similar, clinicians use a different lens
when completing each section. In Part A, they are indicating adver-
sities, where in Part B, they are indicating poverty or strength in a
child's relational health. Moreover, Part A is scored with a “deficits-
based” view, and Part B with a “strengths-” or “lack of strengths”-based
view.

Part C (CNS Functioning: Current) is clinician rating of a child's
capabilities across several brain-mediated developmental functions
spanning from basic autonomic regulation, such as cardiovascular
regulation (heart rate), to sleep, feeding/appetite, fine motor skills,
affect regulation, relational skills, arousal, ability to modulate re-
activity/inhibit impulsivity, and abstract/reflective thinking skills. The
rating clinicians are asked to review (when possible) medical records,
and in gathering history from caregivers to ask about known medical
conditions. In addition, many of the NMT-certified clinicians – parti-
cularly nurses and other medical professionals - obtain heart rate, heart
rate variability and blood pressure data as part of their routine clinic

visits. In addition, there are specific scoring “rules” that clinicians learn,
such that clinicians should assume ‘typical’ cardiovascular regulation
unless they obtain history or data that suggests otherwise. Clinicians
rate whether a child's capabilities are “age typical” or whether they fall
above or below age typical on the 32 items comprising the CNS
Functioning checklist on a scale of 1–12, where 1–3 = Severe
Dysfunction, 4–6 = Moderate Dysfunction, 7–9 = Mild Dysfunction,
and 10–12 = Normal Range (for a fully-functioning adult).

The highest possible CNS Functioning score is 384, which represents
the capacity of a “typical” adult. This score should not be interpreted
like an IQ score. Instead, a score of 384 indicates a general lack of
dysfunction in the measured brain-mediated capacities. As part of the
NMT certification process, clinicians are asked to complete metrics on
“typical” children and adults to learn how to navigate the web-based
app, and to learn more about the items and anchors of the metrics.
“Typical” children and adults may have had some developmental ad-
versity; the selection of “typical” is based upon the clinician's im-
pression that this individual's current functioning is within a non-clin-
ical range. This set of typical metrics (N= 1035) provides a type of
normative sample against which clinical scores can be compared.

Part D (Current RH) is clinician rating of the quality of a child's
current relational context across nine different domains, including
primary caregivers, siblings, extended family, school, peers, and com-
munity. Clinicians rate the quality of each of the child's current rela-
tional experiences from Poor (1–3), Episodic (4–6), Adequate (7–9) to
Positive (10–12). Then, these nine items are summed to create a total
Current RH score.

Evidence for the validity and reliability of the NMT metrics include the
following. In a sample of children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders,
improvements in CNS Functioning following six months of NMT-guided
intervention coincided with improvements in scores on the Battelle
Developmental Inventory – 2nd Ed (BDI-2) and the Parenting Stress
Inventory (PSI) (Zarnegar, Hambrick, Perry, Azen, & Peterson, 2016). The
correlation between the BDI-2 and Part C (CNS Functioning) was 0.67 and
the PSI and Part C was −0.38. Significant associations between Part C items
and the Trauma Symptom Checklist for Young Children Posttraumatic
Stress Total score include arousal (r= −0.408) and child ability to mod-
ulate reactivity/inhibit impulsivity (r= −0.390) (Jackson, Frederico,
Hameed, Cox, & Kascamanidis, 2016). In an analysis using a subsample of
the current dataset comprised of primarily child-welfare involved children,
Cronbach's α was 0.95 for Part C, and was 0.84 for Part D (Hambrick,
Brawner, & Perry, 2018).

In the current study, evidence of NMT Metric reliability include the
following. Cronbach's α was 0.95 for Part C (CNS Functioning), and was
0.85 for Part D (Current RH). Cronbach's α was not computed for AE
and RH scores, as this is an inappropriate statistic when an endorsement
of one item does not necessarily increase the likelihood of an en-
dorsement on other items (Bollen & Bauldry, 2011). In the statistical
models, site bias of CNS Functioning ratings was roughly normally
distributed around and statistically indistinguishable from the NMT
developers' ratings (Fig. 1).

Data analysis

To create statistical indicators likely to represent documented oc-
currences of severe, profound adversity (AE) and relational poverty
(RH), variables were created to indicate the number of experiences
rated 10–12 (AE) or 1–3 (RH) per child, within each developmental
period. Thus, ordinal variables were created for Perinatal – AE Severity
(range 0–6, given that 6 possible adversities are assessed per develop-
mental period), Perinatal – RH Severity (range 0–6), and so forth. These
AE and RH severity scores, per developmental period, were in-
dependent variables. Part C scores were summed to create a broad in-
dicator of a child's current developmental functioning, hereafter called
CNS Functioning. The CNS Functioning score was our dependent vari-
able. Part D scores were also summed to create a broad indicator of a

E.P. Hambrick et al. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing 33 (2019) 238–247

241 98



child's current degree of RH. This score was also used as an independent
variable.

We further controlled for degree of severity of intrauterine sub-
stance abuse (on a scale from 1 to 12, with 12 indicating the highest
level of intrauterine substance use/abuse, and scores falling between 10
and 12 identified as “severe”). When completing Parts A (AE) and B
(RH), clinicians are also asked to rate intrauterine experiences. Given
the low degree of clinician-rated “confidence” in most intrauterine
scores (other than the Part A item assessing degree of substance use/
abuse), this was the only item that was included from the Part A in-
trauterine scale. Other controls included demographic attributes, in-
cluding age (months), a binary indicator of gender (female = 1), binary
indicators of race/ethnicity, and binary indicators for the 190 sites.

We also control for the “age category” a child was in (6 to 7 years, 8
to 10 years, and 11 to 13 years) at the time a Metric was completed. To
promote ease of Metric use, clinicians are provided a different reference
for what a “typical” score is expected to be on a given Part C (Current
CNS Functioning) item per age category. Age category demarcations
were roughly determined by considering the rate at which children's
developmental functions are likely to change in a variety of CNS-
mediated domains (e.g., most rapidly early in life, Johnson, 2001).
Given this changing reference point per age category, we control for the
scoring bias these reference points create. We restricted our analysis to
children who were in these three age categories (6–7, 8–10, 11–13) at
the time of Metric completion given that children in these three age
categories all had the same developmental information (i.e., informa-
tion regarding their experiences during the perinatal, infancy, early
childhood, and childhood periods).

The analysis features a hierarchical linear model of CNS Functioning
as a function of AE and RH severity scores for each of the develop-
mental periods, and current RH. An important feature of the data is the
correlation among the AE and RH scores, which produces a concern for
collinearity. This collinearity is not surprising, because a child who
lives in a chaotic, unpredictable, relationally depleted environment
early in life is likely to live in a similar environment later in life. As
evidence of this, the condition number, capturing the ratio of the largest
and smallest eigenvalues in a matrix decomposition of the model in-
puts, was 22.69, indicative of unstable regression coefficients (Fox,
2008). To address this, we introduce a ridge penalty. Ridge regular-
ization is commonly employed to reduce variance due to collinearity
and improve the quality of inferences (Hastie, Tibshirani, & Friedman,
2016). In addition, in coordination with cross-validation, regularization

helps prevent overfitting (Type I Errors). The value of the regularization
parameter is chosen via generalized cross-validation.

The hierarchical component of the model is due to the nesting of
individual observations within sites, among which we expect to observe
variation. In the language of Gelman and Hill (2007), a linear model
with no regularization and with estimated intercepts for each site is a
hierarchical model with no pooling of the site intercepts. Such a model
often inflates the estimated differences among sites, and Gelman and
Hill instead suggest partial pooling of the intercepts, where site effects
are assumed to follow a Normal distribution centered at zero. In our
case, because linear regression with ridge regularization is equivalent to
Bayesian regression with regularizing Gaussian priors, the model pre-
sented below is a hierarchical linear model with partial pooling of the
site intercepts.

There are two consequences of regularization relevant for inter-
pretation of regression estimates. First, analytical standard errors are
not available, and therefore we evaluate uncertainty in the coefficient
estimates using 95% accelerated bootstrap confidence intervals (Efron,
1987). Second, to penalize the terms in the model equally, all in-
dependent variables (IVs) are standardized to the same scale. Namely,
unit changes in the standardized IVs correspond to one standard de-
viation, and estimates should be interpreted as the expected change in
CNS Functioning due to a change of one standard deviation in the IV in
question.

Results

Mean CNS Functioning was identified (Table 1). CNS Functioning
scores in the clinical sample is presented alongside scores in age-mat-
ched typical peers, and indicate that clinical sample scores are ap-
proximately 2 SDs lower than typical scores. Descriptive statistics and
bivariate correlations between predictors are in Table 2, and indicate
correlations between most predictors.

Results from the Ridge Regression Model, assessing the association
between severity of AE and RH per developmental period and CNS
Functioning, indicated several significant associations (Table 3). A
child's current degree of RH was the most significant indicator of a
child's current CNS Functioning. The next strongest associations were
RH and AE Severity scores, respectively, during the Perinatal period. AE
Severity scores remained significant in Infancy and Early Childhood.
RH Severity scores were only significant during the Perinatal period,
and the AE score was no longer significant in Childhood.

Fig. 1. Site bias in CNS Functioning scores.
Note. Distribution of the site intercepts in the regularized hierarchical model for the site indicators, where NMT developers are the reference category. Values
represent deviations from the reference category in CNS Functioning scores.

E.P. Hambrick et al. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing 33 (2019) 238–247

242 99



To visually represent the potential functional impact of the major
findings regarding the timing of negative developmental experiences,
Fig. 2 shows a nonparametric local regression of the predicted devel-
opmental trajectory in CNS Functioning over time (0 to 18 years) across
three groups: children with scores ranging from four to six on the AE
Severity Perinatal variable but not the RH Severity Perinatal variable
and vice-versa, and then children in the typical sample. Fig. 2 shows a
widening gap over time in CNS scores for the typical and clinical
samples, or evidence of a “developmental lag” that continues to widen

over time in children with early life adversity – be it nodal adversities
or lack of relational health.

Discussion

Previous research indicates that the timing of adversity likely mat-
ters for children's mental health, developmental, and psychosocial
outcomes (Dunn et al., 2017). Yet, the association between timing and
child outcomes has yet to be examined in a fine-grained manner. This
study sought to promote a deeper appreciation of the complex asso-
ciation between the timing of adverse and relationally impoverished
experiences and children's current functioning in 32 brain-mediated
domains. Adversity and relationally healthy experiences throughout
four developmental stages spanning from perinatal (birth to two
months) to childhood (4 to 11 years) and children's current functioning
were reported by clinicians using the NMT Metrics. We sought to de-
termine the relative impact of adverse (AE) and relationally im-
poverished (RH) experiences on current functioning across these four
developmental periods.

We found that children in our clinical sample had CNS Functioning
scores significantly below the scores seen in age-matched samples of
typically developing children (Table 1). This is not surprising, but
perhaps a sobering realization of just how far from typical functioning
significantly trauma-exposed children can, collectively, appear. Bi-
variate correlations showed correlations across predictors (Table 2).
This was also unsurprising, given that children who live in chaotic,
unpredictable, and relationally impoverished environments during the
first months or year of life are likely to remain in such settings unless
caregivers change significantly and/or the child is removed from their
home and placed in a setting with quality caregivers. Therefore, these
correlations across predictors identified a need to use regularized re-
gression models to help determine which predictors, when considered
together, were most influential for outcomes.

Results from the regularized regression indicated that a child's de-
gree of current RH was the strongest predictor of outcomes (Table 3).
This finding is consistent with a previous study conducted with a subset
of the NMT Metric data comprised of child-welfare involved youth. This
may be because many children entering therapy have been removed

Table 2
Bivariate Spearman correlations between predictor variables.

M (SD) CNS
Functioning

Current
relational
health

Intrauterine
drug abuse

AE Severity
(Perinatal)

RH Severity
(Perinatal)

AE Severity
(Infancy)

RH Severity
(Infancy)

RH Severity
(Early
childhood)

RH Severity
(Early
childhood)

AE Severity
(Childhood)

CNS Functioning 231.53
(39.64)

– – – – – – – – – –

Current relational
health

59.14
(15.73)

0.338 – – – – – – – – –

Intrauterine drug
abuse

0.216
(0.41)

−0.073 0.002 – – – – – – – –

Perinatal - AE 0.944
(1.44)

−0.167 −0.013 0.446 – – – – – – –

Perinatal - RH 1.490
(1.70)

−0.196 −0.087 0.301 0.517 – – – – – –

Infancy - AE 0.980
(1.54)

−0.171 −0.023 0.345 0.664 0.444 – – – – –

Infancy - RH 1.397
(1.63)

−0.175 −0.109 0.23 0.46 0.765 0.525 – – – –

Early childhood - AE 1.181
(1.63)

−0.133 −0.111 0.197 0.372 0.252 0.5 0.341 – – –

Early childhood - RH 1.32
(1.6)

−0.136 −0.214 0.125 0.254 0.464 0.331 0.605 0.537 – –

Childhood - AE 1.012
(1.50)

−0.01 −0.217 0.007 0.115 0.028 0.152 0.092 0.359 0.225 –

Childhood - RH 0.883
(1.23)

−0.117 −0.374 0.022 0.055 0.19 0.079 0.251 0.208 0.418 0.0382

Note. AE (adverse experiences) and RH (relational health) scores are ordinal indicators of the number of adversity or relational health indicators within the “severe”
or “poor,” respectively, range.

Table 3
Hierarchical Ridge Regression Model: Severity of adversity and relational
poverty per developmental period and CNS Functioning.

Estimate Confidence interval

Intrauterine drug/alcohol −0.204 [−1.232 0.823]
Current relational health 13.149 [12.083 - 14.152]
Perinatal – AE −2.314 [−3.735 −0.96]
Perinatal – RH −3.455 [−4.77 −2.235]
Infancy – AE −3.28 [−4.687 −1.873]
Infancy – RH 0.24 [−1.099 1.544]
Early childhood – AE −2.116 [−3.28 −1.081]
Early childhood – RH 0.3171 [−0.86 1.563]
Childhood – AE 0.943 [−0.063 1.937]
Childhood – RH −0.435 [−1.476 0.636]
Age in months 6.747 [5.663 7.933]
Female 2.489 [1.556 3.514]
Asian −0.287 [−1.468 0.906]
Black −0.51 [−1.532 0.422]
Hispanic −0.145 [−1.101 0.9]
Native American −0.857 [−1.897 0.199]
Other 0.293 [−0.645 1.2749]
Age category 8 to 10 2.746 [1.787 3.814]
Age category 11 to 13 5.587 [4.427 6.722]

Note. CNS = central nervous system. AE (adverse experiences) and RH (rela-
tional health) scores are ordinal indicators of the number of adversity or rela-
tional health indicators within the “severe” or “poor,” respectively, range. Site
indicators are not represented here for brevity (190 site indicators), though
their distribution is shown in Fig. 1. For ethnic/racial indicators, White is the
reference category. For age category indicators, 6 to 7-year-olds are the re-
ference category. Bolded are statistically significant findings.

E.P. Hambrick et al. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing 33 (2019) 238–247

243 100



from relationally impoverished environments, and their current more
relationally positive context may be promoting their growth or pro-
viding a regulating environment. Impressively, despite children's ad-
versity histories, RH later in life may have meaningful implications for
functioning. Theories of developmental psychopathology posit that not
only what happened matters, but the context in which it occurs matters
(Cicchetti & Toth, 1995; Ludy-Dobson & Perry, 2010). Indeed, the re-
lational context in which trauma occurs as well as the quality of sub-
sequent relational environments may have powerful implications for
children (Schumm et al., 2006). While this finding may provide a
message of hope regarding ways to remediate developmental trauma,
the current RH variable may be a proxy for several unmeasured vari-
ables, including a child's degree of relational adeptness, or their lack of
behavioral concerns that make them easily relatable.

Despite the strength of the current RH finding, several of the in-
dicators of developmental experience also evidenced strong associa-
tions with a child's degree of functioning. Both severe AE and extremely
poor RH during the perinatal period were most strongly associated with
negative outcomes, consistent with organizational theories of devel-
opment (Cicchetti & Toth, 1995; Perry, 2001; Tronick & Perry, 2015)
and research suggesting that the brain is most plastic during the few
weeks following birth (Ishii et al., 2015; Paredes et al., 2016). Inter-
estingly, severity of RH during the perinatal period was a stronger
predictor of negative outcomes than severity of AE, the predictor
variable that we used that is most similar to traditionally-utilized scales
of “adverse childhood experiences.” This suggests that the context and
quality of early experiences (somatosensory, interactional, attunement,
affective, safety, etc.) have a profound influence on subsequent devel-
opment in multiple domains. The dependence of newborns on con-
sistent, predictable caregivers to provide basic physical and emotional
needs and thereby shape their developing stress response capabilities
may contribute to this strong finding (Beeghly et al., 2016; Brandt,
2008). Although potentially traumatic events, such as domestic vio-
lence, are also impactful during this time, it is important to reflect on
which developmental capacities are forming at a given time in devel-
opment, and how these might dictate which types of experiences are
most impactful. Newborns settle into their developmental context and
are fully dependent on caregivers to regulate their temperature, relieve
hunger, help regulate them, and soothe their primitive stress response
systems. As a result, systems involved in reward, pleasure, safety,
hunger, satiety, thermoregulation, transitions, organization of motor
systems, state regulation, etc. are under development, and highly sen-
sitive to and influenced by early experiences.

Following the perinatal period, the association between RH and
outcomes significantly diminishes. This is not to say that connectedness
does not continue to matter; indeed, we see that strong RH in a child's
current environment matters greatly. Yet, holding all else equal – AE
seem to take over in importance as a child ages, particularly in infancy
and early childhood. The finding that AE are strong predictors of out-
comes up until four years of age also fits with current understandings of
the role of early life experiences in influencing outcomes. Infants are
building a relational template that helps them determine if people are
ultimately trustworthy and are working to determine if their world is
safe (Narayan, Rivera, Bernstein, Harris, & Lieberman, 2018). Receipt
of consistent messages that they are not safe during this sensitive de-
velopmental phase may result in significant neurodevelopmental al-
terations in attachment and in stress response systems that can have
persistent implications.

We see evidence of this persistence, or what we informally call a
“developmental echo” or lag in the current analysis. The idea that once
a child is moved off of a typical developmental trajectory, they tend to
appear further and further from age typical with time is not new (Font
& Berger, 2015). A visual indication of this developmental echo is seen
in Fig. 2, where we plot expected CNS Functioning over time in the
sample of typical children, (ages 0 to 18) and in children whose peri-
natal experience included either significant AH or significant RH, and
see an increasingly widening gap.

In sum, the current results are consistent with what researchers and
clinicians have largely assumed: that early developmental experiences
have a significant impact on development. Yet, the relatively more
powerful impact of developmental disruptions in connectedness and
adversity in the first two months of life is a striking finding with sig-
nificant practice and policy implications. Other studies examining, for
example, the impact of extreme early-life deprivation during the first
three years of life have noted that deficits can persist into adulthood
(Sonuga-Barke et al., 2017). And, emerging research also suggests that
positive relational experiences, such as perceived family, peer, school,
and community support, may buffer negative outcomes (Saeri, Cruwys,
Barlow, Stronge, & Sibley, 2018; Sege et al., 2017).

Study strengths, limitations, and future research directions

Results must be interpreted in light of study strengths and limita-
tions. One limitation was reliance on clinician report. Clinicians likely
varied in the degree and quality of information available to them re-
garding a child's life experiences. Some clinicians may not have had

Fig. 2. Nonparametric Local Regression: Predicted
trajectories of CNS Functioning given perinatal ad-
versity and relational health.
Note. The High Adversity group is comprised of
children across all age categories in the NMT Metric
database ages 0 to 216 months (comprised of metrics
of raters with “Acceptable” or “High” fidelity,
N= 15,140) with scores ranging from four to six on
the AE (adverse experiences) severity variable
during the perinatal period (0 to 2 months), but not
on the RH (relational health) severity variable
during the perinatal period (n= 1433). The Low RH
group is the opposite (n= 2440). The Typical group
is comprised of individuals whom clinicians have
deemed to have “typical” functioning on whom they
completed metrics. “Typical” children and adults
may have had some developmental adversity; the
selection of “typical” is based upon the clinician's
impression that this individual's current functioning
is within a non-clinical range (n= 945).

E.P. Hambrick et al. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing 33 (2019) 238–247

244 101



access to either child welfare records or a reliable reporter of the child's
history. Use of retrospective reports of developmental histories in the
study of how trauma influences functioning is a debated practice
(Greenhoot, 2013) given that retrospective reports often differ from
actuarial reports (Hambrick, Tunno, Gabrielli, Jackson, & Belz, 2014).
Yet, aspects of NMT training may have mitigated the impact of retro-
spection on the current study.

Clinicians using the NMT Metrics have completed over 150 h of
training, and have passed fidelity exercises to demonstrate competence
and inter-rater reliability with these tools. When scoring, they are in-
structed to use all evidence available to them, including multiple re-
porters, case files, psychological assessments, and medical records.
Allowing clinicians to use all information available to them may be a
useful way to obtain the fullest picture possible about a child's devel-
opmental experience. Additionally, the scoring schema is designed to
accommodate information gaps and neither add nor reduce risk beyond
a neutral score to prevent a retrospective reporting bias. Clinicians are
asked to only rate scores in the “severe” category if they have reports
from child welfare documents, or reliable child, caregiver/case man-
ager reports indicative of severe adversity during a specific develop-
mental period. Regardless, prospective, longitudinal studies that track
multiple dimensions of adverse experiences and their associations with
functioning over time are needed.

Another study limitation was the monomethod, monoreporter de-
sign, which may have resulted in inflated correlations between vari-
ables (Podsakoff, MacKenzie, Lee, & Podsakoff, 2003). We sought to
address this statistically. Ridge regularization in tandem with cross-
validation is an effective method for addressing multicollinearity to
learn generalizable and stable estimates from the data, while still per-
mitting statistical inference.

Future research directions using the current dataset include evalu-
ating which types of adversity or relational poverty are most associated
with neurodevelopmental functioning, and which specific functional
domains are most affected by various dimensions of adversity, in-
cluding timing, type, frequency/chronicity, and severity. There are
likely key domains, such as attention, arousal, sleep, and mood, that are
affected by certain types of experiences during specific developmental
periods. Interactions between risk trajectories and current functioning
also need to be explored, when sample sizes are large enough, as does
the association between the timing of various protective experiences
and specific brain-mediated developmental functions.

We are aware that the utility of the current dataset will be vastly
improved when it is linked to other indicators of children's functioning.
Currently, we are scaling up clinical sites using the NMT to collect
additional data, such as expanded demographic information (e.g., pla-
cement type, indicators of which sources were used to inform the de-
velopmental history reports, caregiver and clinician information),
standardized measures of behavioral, social, cognitive, and neu-
ropsychological function, and detailed information about the sequence
and type of intervention children are receiving.

Conclusions

Findings indicate that the impact of highly traumatic and re-
lationally impoverished experiences, particularly when occurring
during the first few months of life, can be enduring. Conversely, re-
lationally rich contexts at any point in a child's life may serve as a
buffer. From either perspective, the potential for prevention and early
intervention to address risk, reduce future morbidity, and enhance the
lives of children is unmistakable.

Every provider coming into contact with pregnant women, or
newborns and their families, can and should play a pivotal role in
identification of families at risk and early intervention. Physicians,
nurses, midwives, doulas, infant mental health specialists, home visi-
tors, lactation consultants, etc. can inquire about the family's living
conditions, adjustment to parenthood, stress levels, family violence,

caregiver depression, substance use, economic stability, etc., and either
intervene or provide a referral for support. They can provide antici-
patory guidance regarding the the lasting effects of both early adversity
and neglect, and the buffering impact of safety, protection, loving and
attuned caregiving, and a developmentally rich environment. While the
use of standardized screening and intervention tools may support this
work, they cannot substitute for a conversation with a sincerely inter-
ested provider. Any program that decreases the isolation of caregivers
during pregnancy and early childhood may significantly mitigate chil-
dren's risk. Such efforts must also be paired with advocacy work to
move local, state, and federal policies into greater alignment with these
scientific findings.

Depending on the training, context and inclination of the provider,
other preventive approaches can include simply observing the level of
relational attunement and reciprocity of interactions between parent
and newborn, and providing support or making a referral for a more
advanced assessment by an infant mental health specialist if question-
able patterns present (Brandt, Perry, Seligman, & Tronick, 2014;
Weatherston, 2000). Professionals can also be trained in more advanced
skills for supporting parents, such as: a) use of the Newborn Behavioral
Observation (NBO), a clinical relationship-building approach for en-
gaging parents in understanding their baby's unique language and be-
havioral repertoire, reducing parental anxiety, and enhancing parent-
child interactions (Nugent, Keefer, Minear, Johnson, & Blanchard,
2007); and, b) the Parent-Child Interaction (PCI) Feeding and Teaching
Scales that can be used starting at birth to identify dyads with poten-
tially problematic interactional patterns, and pinpoint areas for inter-
vention and support (Brandt, 2013; Oxford & Findlay, 2013).

Child medical providers typically see infants and their caregivers
four times during the first two months of life and eight times during the
first year (and even more so when children are preterm or have birth
complications), and maternal medical providers typically have two
postpartum contacts for checking in with the mother. These contacts
afford multiple opportunities to build relationships, check in on family
progress, and screen for relational challenges, including parental de-
pression.

The findings reported here suggest the need for communities to
organize coordinated efforts that embrace families with newborns and
young infants in novel ways to prevent isolation, reduce stress, and
promote safe and joyful parent-child relationships. Community based
approaches for reduction of child risk include home visiting programs
by nurses or other providers that focus on the parent-child relationship,
risk reduction, and promotion of child safety and positive parental
engagement (Doggett, 2013). The documented efficacy of home visiting
programs targeting pregnant and post-partum mothers, such as Healthy
Families America, Early Head Start Home Visiting, and Nurse Family
Partnership (NFP) (DiLauro, 2012), may be due in part to the fact that
the supportive services are provided during a time when we know that
experiences, particularly relational experiences, are highly influential
for the developing child. Other useful community programs may in-
clude lactation support organizations, faith-based congregations, and
state and federal programs such as the Women, Infants, and Children
(WIC) Supplemental Nutrition Program.

Even if a child's early experiences are poor, improving future rela-
tional contexts will likely improve outcome. To do so, however, we
must think outside of traditional 50-minute therapy sessions toward
ways to enrich a child's entire relational world every hour of the day,
from the family context to friends, schools, and community settings.
Certainly, these findings highlight the complex pathways through
which developmental experience influences children's functioning. We
must never underestimate how experiences can both hurt and heal, and
how positive experiences early in life can optimize development and be
preventive. Continuing to explore associations between experiences and
outcomes will allow us to construct and promote clinical work that is
more responsive to nuance, patient-centered, and increasingly effective.

E.P. Hambrick et al. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing 33 (2019) 238–247

245 102



Acknowledgment

NMT Network Sites, clinicians and clients whose contributions
made this study possible.

References

Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Bremner, J. D., Walker, J. D., Whitfield, C., Perry, B. D., ... Giles,
W. H. (2006). The enduring effects of abuse and related adverse experiences in
childhood. A convergence of evidence from neurobiology and epidemiology.
European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience, 256(3), 174–186. https://
doi.org/10.1007/s00406-005-0624-4.

Bedrosian, T. A., Quayle, C., Novaresi, N., & Gage, F. H. (2018). Early life experience
drives structural variation of neural genomes in mice. Science, 359(6382),
1395–1399. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aah3378.

Beeghly, M., Perry, B. D., & Tronick, E. (2016). Self-regulatory processes in early devel-
opment. The Oxford handbook of treatment processes and outcomes in psychology: A
multidisciplinary, biopsychosocial approachhttps://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/
9780199739134.013.3.

Bellis, M. A., Hardcastle, K., Ford, K., Hughes, K., Ashton, K., Quigg, Z., & Butler, N.
(2017). Does continuous trusted adult support in childhood impart life-course resi-
lience against adverse childhood experiences - A retrospective study on adult health-
harming behaviours and mental well-being. BMC Psychiatry, 17(1), https://doi.org/
10.1186/s12888-017-1260-z.

Bollen, K., & Bauldry, S. (2011). Three Cs in measurement models: Causal indicators,
composite indicators, and covariates. Psychological Methods, 16, 265–284. https://
doi.org/10.1037/a0024448.

Bos, K. J., Fox, N. A., Zeanah, C. H., & Nelson, C. A. (2009). Effects of early psychosocial
deprivation on the development of memory and executive function. Frontiers in
Behavioral Neuroscience, 3, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.08.016.2009.

Brandt, K. (2008). Maternal-child & family nursing and preventive interventation: United
States. In J. K. Nugent, B. Petrauskas, & T. B. Brazelton (Eds.). The newborn as a
person: Enabling healthy infant development worldwide(1st ed.). Hoboken, N.J.: Wiley &
Sons.

Brandt, K. (2013). Trans-disciplinary use of the NCAST teaching scale in infant-parent
mental health work. In M. L. Oxford, & D. M. Findlay (Eds.). NCAST programs care-
giver/parent-child interaction teaching manual(2nd ed.). Seattle: NCAST Programs,
University of Washington, School of Nursing.

Brandt, K., Perry, B. D., Seligman, S., & Tronick, E. (Eds.). (2014). Infant and early
childhood mental health: Core concepts and clinical practice. Washington DC: American
Psychiatric Publishing, Inc.

Burke Harris, N., Silvério Marques, S., Oh, D., Bucci, M., & Cloutier, M. (2017). Prevent,
screen, heal: Collective action to fight the toxic effects of early life adversity.
Academic Pediatrics, 17(7), S14–S15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2016.11.015.

Cicchetti, D., & Toth, S. L. (1995). A developmental psychopathology perspective on child
abuse and neglect. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry,
34(5), 541–565. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199505000-00008.

Claessens, S. E. F., Daskalakis, N. P., van der Veen, R., Oitzl, M. S., de Kloet, E. R., &
Champagne, D. L. (2011). Development of individual differences in stress respon-
siveness: An overview of factors mediating the outcome of early life experiences.
Psychopharmacology, 214(1), 141–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-010-2118-y.

Crane, P. A., & Clements, P. T. (2005). Psychological response to disasters: Focus on
adolescents. Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services, 43(8), 31–38.

Dai, W., Chen, L., Tan, H., Wang, J., Lai, Z., Kaminga, A. C., ... Liu, A. (2016). Association
between social support and recovery from post-traumatic stress disorder after flood:
A 13–14 year follow-up study in Hunan, China. BMC Public Health, 16(1), 194.
https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-2871-x.

DiLauro, E. (2012). Reaching families where they live: Supporting parents and child devel-
opment through home visiting, policy statement. Zero to Threehttps://www.zerotothree.
org/resources/997-reaching-families-where-they-live-supporting-parents-and-child-
development-through-home-visiting.

Doggett, L. (2013). New research strengthens home visiting field. 33, Zero to Three5–9.
Dunn, E. C., Nishimi, K., Powers, A., & Bradley, B. (2017). Is developmental timing of

trauma exposure associated with depressive and post-traumatic stress disorder
symptoms in adulthood? Journal of Psychiatric Research, 84, 119–127. https://doi.
org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.09.004.

Efron, B. (1987). Better bootstrap confidence intervals. Journal of the American Statistical
Association, 82(397), 198–200. https://doi.org/10.2307/2289153.

Evans, S. E., Steel, A. L., & Dilillo, D. (2013). Child maltreatment severity and adult
trauma symptoms: Does perceived social support play a buffering role? Child Abuse &
Neglect, 37(11), 934–943. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.03.005.

Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., ...
Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to
many of the leading causes of death in adults. American Journal of Preventive Medicine,
14(4), 245–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8.

Font, S. A., & Berger, L. M. (2015). Child maltreatment and children's developmental
tajectories in early to middle childhood. Child Development, 86(2), 536–556. https://
doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12322.

Fox, J. (2008). Applied regression analysis and generalized linear models (2nd ed.). Thousand
Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Gelman, A., & Hill, J. (2007). Data analysis using regression and multilevel/hierarchical
models. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

Greenhoot, A. (2013). Retrospective methods in developmental science. In B. Laursen, T.
D. Little, & N. A. Card (Eds.). Handbook of developmental research methods (pp. 196–

210). (1st ed.). Guilford Press.
Hambrick, E. P., Brawner, T. W., & Perry, B. D. (2018). Examining developmental ad-

versity and connectedness in child welfare-involved children. Children Australia,
43(02), 105–115. https://doi.org/10.1017/cha.2018.21.

Hambrick, E. P., Tunno, A. M., Gabrielli, J., Jackson, Y., & Belz, C. (2014). Using multiple
informants to assess child maltreatment: Concordance between case file and youth
self-report. Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 23(7), 751–771. https://
doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2014.933463.

Hastie, T., Tibshirani, R., & Friedman, J. (2016). The elements of statistical learning: Data
mining, inference, and prediction (2nd ed.). Springer.

Ishii, K., Kubo, K.-i., Endo, T., Yoshida, K., Benner, S., Ito, Y., ... Nakajima, K. (2015).
Neuronal heterotopias affect the activities of distant brain areas and lead to beha-
vioral deficits. Journal of Neuroscience, 35(36), 12432–12445. https://doi.org/10.
1523/JNEUROSCI.3648-14.2015.

Jackson, A., Frederico, M., Hameed, M., Cox, A., & Kascamanidis, M. (2016, June).
Building a research and practice interface using NMT and outcome measures.
Presented at the 2nd International Neurosequential Model Symposium, Alberta, Canada.
Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/304655334_Building_a_
research_and_practice_interface_using_NMT_and_Outcome_measures.

Jackson, Y., Gabrielli, J., Fleming, K., Tunno, A. M., & Makanui, P. K. (2014). Untangling
the relative contribution of maltreatment severity and frequency to type of beha-
vioral outcome in foster youth. Child Abuse & Neglect, 38(7), 1147–1159. https://doi.
org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.01.008.

Johnson, M. H. (2001). Functional brain development in humans. Nature Reviews
Neuroscience, 2(7), 475.

Ludy-Dobson, C. R., & Perry, B. D. (2010). The role of healthy relational interaction in
buffering the impact of childhood trauma. In E. Gil (Ed.). Working with children to heal
interpersonal trauma: The power of play (pp. 26–43). Guilford Press.

Manly, J. T., Kim, J. E., Rogosch, F. A., & Cicchetti, D. (2001). Dimensions of child
maltreatment and children's adjustment: Contributions of developmental timing and
subtype. Development and Psychopathology, 13(4), 759–782.

Masten, A. S., & Coatsworth, J. D. (1998). The development of competence in favorable
and unfavorable environments. American Psychologist, 16.

McDermott, J. M., Troller-Renfree, S., Vanderwert, R., Nelson, C. A., Zeanah, C. H., & Fox,
N. A. (2013). Psychosocial deprivation, executive functions, and the emergence of
socio-emotional behavior problems. Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 7, 167. https://
doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00167.

McGowan, P. O., Sasaki, A., D'Alessio, A. C., Dymov, S., Labonté, B., Szyf, M., ... Meaney,
M. J. (2009). Epigenetic regulation of the glucocorticoid receptor in human brain
associates with childhood abuse. Nature Neuroscience, 12(3), 342–348. https://doi.
org/10.1038/nn.2270.

Narayan, A. J., Rivera, L. M., Bernstein, R. E., Harris, W. W., & Lieberman, A. F. (2018).
Positive childhood experiences predict less psychopathology and stress in pregnant
women with childhood adversity: A pilot study of the benevolent childhood experi-
ences (BCEs) scale. Child Abuse & Neglect, 78, 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
chiabu.2017.09.022.

Nugent, J. K., Keefer, C. H., Minear, S., Johnson, L. C., & Blanchard, Y. (2007). The
newborn behavioral observations (NBO) system handbook. Baltimore, MD: Brookes
Publishing.

Ogle, C. M., Rubin, D. C., & Siegler, I. C. (2013). The impact of the developmental timing
of trauma exposure on PTSD symptoms and psychosocial functioning among older
adults. Developmental Psychology, 49(11), 2191–2200. https://doi.org/10.1037/
a0031985.

Oxford, M. L., & Findlay, D. M. (Eds.). (2013). NCAST programs caregiver/parent-child
interaction teaching manual(2nd ed.). Seattle: NCAST Programs, University of
Washington, School of Nursing.

Paredes, M. F., James, D., Gil-Perotin, S., Kim, H., Cotter, J. A., Ng, C., ... Alvarez-Buylla,
A. (2016). Extensive migration of young neurons into the infant human frontal lobe.
Science, 354(6308), https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf7073 aaf7073–aaf7073.

Paus, T. (2005). Mapping brain maturation and cognitive development during adoles-
cence. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 9(2), 60–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2004.
12.008.

Perry, B. D. (2001). The neuroarcheology of childhood maltreatment: The neurodeve-
lopmental costs of adverse childhood events. In K. Franey, R. Geffner, & R. Falconer
(Eds.). The cost of child maltreatment: Who pays? We all do (pp. 15–37). San Diego:
Family Violence and Sexual Assault Institute.

Perry, B. D. (2014). The neurosequential model of therapeutics in young children. In K.
Brandt, B. D. Perry, S. Seligman, & E. Tronick (Eds.). Infant and early childhood mental
health: Core concepts and clinical practice (pp. 21–54). Washington, D.C: American
Psychiatric Press.

Perry, B. D., & Dobson, C. L. (2013). The neurosequential model of therapeutics. Treating
complex traumatic stress disorders in children and adolescents (pp. 249–260). The
Guilford Press. Retrieved from https://childtrauma.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/
12/FordCourtois_Perry_Dobson.pdf.

Perry, B. D., & Hambrick, E. P. (2008). The neurosequential model of therapeutics.
Reclaiming Children and Youth, 17(3), 38–43.

Perry, B. D. (2009). Examining child maltreatment through a neurodevelopmental lens:
Clinical applications of the neurosequential model of therapeutics. Journal of Loss &
Trauma, 14(4), 240–255. https://doi.org/10.1080/15325020903004350.

Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Lee, J.-Y., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2003). Common method
biases in behavioral research: A critical review of the literature and recommended
remedies. Journal of Applied Psychology, 88(5), 879–903. https://doi.org/10.1037/
0021-9010.88.5.879.

Saeri, A. K., Cruwys, T., Barlow, F. K., Stronge, S., & Sibley, C. G. (2018). Social con-
nectedness improves public mental health: Investigating bidirectional relationships in
the New Zealand attitudes and values survey. Australian and New Zealand Journal of

E.P. Hambrick et al. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing 33 (2019) 238–247

246 103

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-005-0624-4
https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-005-0624-4
https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aah3378
https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199739134.013.3
https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199739134.013.3
https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-017-1260-z
https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-017-1260-z
https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024448
https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024448
https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.08.016.2009
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0035
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0035
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0035
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0035
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0040
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0040
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0040
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0040
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0045
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0045
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0045
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2016.11.015
https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199505000-00008
https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-010-2118-y
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0065
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0065
https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-2871-x
https://www.zerotothree.org/resources/997-reaching-families-where-they-live-supporting-parents-and-child-development-through-home-visiting
https://www.zerotothree.org/resources/997-reaching-families-where-they-live-supporting-parents-and-child-development-through-home-visiting
https://www.zerotothree.org/resources/997-reaching-families-where-they-live-supporting-parents-and-child-development-through-home-visiting
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0080
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.09.004
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.09.004
https://doi.org/10.2307/2289153
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.03.005
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8
https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12322
https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12322
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0110
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0110
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0115
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0115
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0120
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0120
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0120
https://doi.org/10.1017/cha.2018.21
https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2014.933463
https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2014.933463
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0135
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0135
https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3648-14.2015
https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3648-14.2015
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/304655334_Building_a_research_and_practice_interface_using_NMT_and_Outcome_measures
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/304655334_Building_a_research_and_practice_interface_using_NMT_and_Outcome_measures
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.01.008
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.01.008
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0155
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0155
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0160
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0160
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0160
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0165
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0165
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0165
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0170
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0170
https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00167
https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00167
https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2270
https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2270
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.09.022
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.09.022
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0190
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0190
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0190
https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031985
https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031985
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0200
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0200
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0200
https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf7073
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2004.12.008
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2004.12.008
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0215
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0215
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0215
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0215
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0220
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0220
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0220
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0220
https://childtrauma.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/FordCourtois_Perry_Dobson.pdf
https://childtrauma.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/FordCourtois_Perry_Dobson.pdf
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0230
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0230
https://doi.org/10.1080/15325020903004350
https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.5.879
https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.5.879


Psychiatry, 52(4), 365–374. https://doi.org/10.1177/0004867417723990.
Schatz, J. N., Smith, L. E., Borkowski, J. G., Whitman, T. L., & Keogh, D. A. (2008).

Maltreatment risk, self-regulation, and maladjustment in at-risk children. Child Abuse
& Neglect, 32(10), 972–982. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2008.09.001.

Schore, A. N. (2001). The effects of early relational trauma on right brain development,
affect regulation, and infant mental health. Infant Mental Health Journal, 22(1–2),
201–269. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0355(200101/04)22:1<201::AID-
IMHJ8>3.0.CO;2-9.

Schumm, J. A., Briggs-Phillips, M., & Hobfoll, S. E. (2006). Cumulative interpersonal
traumas and social support as risk and resiliency factors in predicting PTSD and
depression among inner-city women. Journal of Traumatic Stress, 19(6), 825–836.
https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.20159.

Sege, R., Bethell, C., Linkenbach, J., Jones, J. A., Klika, B., & Pecora, P. J. (2017).
Balancing adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) with HOPE: New insights into the role of
positive experience on child and family development. Boston: The Medical Foundation.
Retrieved from http://www.cssp.org/publications/documents/Balancing-ACEs-with-
HOPE-FINAL.pdf.

Sonuga-Barke, E. J. S., Kennedy, M., Kumsta, R., Knights, N., Golm, D., Rutter, M., ...
Kreppner, J. (2017). Child-to-adult neurodevelopmental and mental health trajec-
tories after early life deprivation: The young adult follow-up of the longitudinal

English and Romanian Adoptees study. The Lancet, 389(10078), 1539–1548. https://
doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30045-4.

Sroufe, L. A., & Rutter, M. (1984). The domain of developmental psychopathology. Child
Development, 55(1), 17–29. https://doi.org/10.2307/1129832.

Toth, S. L., & Cicchetti, D. (2013). A developmental psychopathology perspective on child
maltreatment. Child Maltreatment, 18(3), 135–139. https://doi.org/10.1177/
1077559513500380.

Tronick, E., & Perry, B. D. (2015). The multiple levels of meaning making: The first
principles of changing meanings in development and therapy. Handbook of body
therapy and somatic psychology (pp. 345–355). Berkeley, CA: North Atlantic Books.

Weatherston, D. (2000). The infant mental health specialist. Journal for Zero to Three,
3–10.

Zarnegar, Z., Hambrick, E. P., Perry, B. D., Azen, S. P., & Peterson, C. (2016). Clinical
improvements in adopted children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders through
neurodevelopmentally informed clinical intervention: A pilot study. Clinical Child
Psychology and Psychiatry, 21(4), 551–567.

Zeanah, C. H., Smyke, A. T., Koga, S. F., Carlson, E. C., & The Bucharest Early Intervention
Project Core Group (2005). Attachment in institutionalized and community children
in Romania. Child Development, 76(5), 1015–1028. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-
8624.2005.00894.x.

E.P. Hambrick et al. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing 33 (2019) 238–247

247 104

https://doi.org/10.1177/0004867417723990
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2008.09.001
https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0355(200101/04)22:1<201::AID-IMHJ8>3.0.CO;2-9
https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0355(200101/04)22:1<201::AID-IMHJ8>3.0.CO;2-9
https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.20159
http://www.cssp.org/publications/documents/Balancing-ACEs-with-HOPE-FINAL.pdf
http://www.cssp.org/publications/documents/Balancing-ACEs-with-HOPE-FINAL.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30045-4
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30045-4
https://doi.org/10.2307/1129832
https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559513500380
https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559513500380
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0285
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0285
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0285
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0290
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0290
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0295
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0295
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0295
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0883-9417(18)30285-1/rf0295
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2005.00894.x
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2005.00894.x


3. Emotional Abuse1. Did a parent or other adult in the household often or very often… Swear at you, insult you, put you down, or humiliate
you? or Act in a way that made you afraid that you might be physically hurt?

2. Physical Abuse2. Did a parent or other adult in the household often or very often… Push, grab, slap, or throw something at you? or
Ever hit you so hard that you had marks or were injured?

1. Risk Abuse
3. Did an adult or person at least 5 years older than you ever… Touch or fondle you or have you touch their body in a
sexual way? or Attempt or actually have oral, anal, or vaginal intercourse with you?

4. Neglect
4. Did you often or very often feel that … No one in your family loved you or thought you were important or special? or

Your family didn’t look out for each other, feel close to each other, or support each other?

12. Parental Criminal
Behavior 

10. Did a household member go to prison?

9. Natural or
manmade disasters 

9. Was a household member depressed or mentally ill, or did a household member attempt suicide?

8. Did you live with anyone who was a problem drinker or alcoholic, or who used street drugs?
10. Victim/Witness to

Criminal Activity

6. Witness to
Family Violence 

7. Was your mother or stepmother: Often or very often pushed, grabbed, slapped, or had something thrown at her? or
Sometimes, often, or very often kicked, bitten, hit with a fist, or hit with something hard? or Ever repeatedly hit over at
least a few minutes or threatened with a gun or knife?

6. Were your parents ever separated or divorced? 11. Disruption in Caregiving
/ Attachment Losses

4. Neglect
5. Did you often or very often feel that … You didn’t have enough to eat, had to wear dirty clothes, and had no one to
protect you? or Your parents were too drunk or high to take care of you or take you to the doctor if you needed it?

CANS Trauma 

Module Item 
ACES Questions 

3.26.21
105



Positive Childhood Experiences (PCE) Questions 
 CANS           Strengths 

Item 

Educational Setting 4. Felt a sense of belonging in high school

5. Felt supported by friends  Interpersonal 

Natural Support 6. Had at least two non-parent adults who took a genuine interest in them

Family Strengths 7. Felt safe and protected by an adult in their home

Family Strengths 1. Felt able to talk to their family about feelings

Family Strengths 

Community Life 3. Enjoyed participating in community traditions

106



 
  

Children, Youth and Families System of Care Council 
March 8, 2021 

  

 
 

 
Advancing Cultural Responsiveness and Equity: this occurs at the program, policy and practice 

levels but nothing happens without personal commitment. Here are some examples how 
participants in the Children Youth and Families System of Care Council are showing their 

personal/professional commitment. 
 

Examples from Council Members: 
 
 Serve as an ambassador and advocate to ensure inclusion of individuals with lived 

experience and how they are powerful in making a difference in the system of care. 
 

 Advocate for more integration of hiring/including individuals with lived experience.  As 
someone with lived experience, use my voice more to bring new insights.  

 
 Do more listening, reading and learning to help contribute and lead from a more informed 

and relevant perspective. 
 
 Increase awareness of the impact language has on relationships and interactions. 

 
 Expand my knowledge and awareness by continuing to learn about different cultures. 

 
 Participate on committees that advance social and racial equity such as the Birth of 

Brilliance conference. 
 

 Engage in difficult conversations with other leaders and take the risk of showing 
vulnerability as a leader to learn and grow.  
 

 Devote time to learn, listen, and deepen my understanding of race, equity, and inclusion.  
Committed to raising these issues so that are incorporated in policy, practice, and program 
system change.  
 

 Acknowledge that education contributes to disparity.   
 

 Shift cultural competence training focus from information to action oriented and trauma 
informed. 
 

 Integrate cultural responsive considerations when applying standardized interventions 
and techniques. 
 

 Facilitate integration of racial, equity, and inclusion between programs and systems.   
 

 Design structures that support multiple interventions for equitable and targeted support.  
 

 Create a diverse group of Youth Ambassadors from various cultures & lived experiences 
into a positive Mental Health Youth team that speaks to other youth in our social media 
platforms.  
 

 
 

 

107



Outreach and Engagement During the Pandemic-Best Practices 
CYF Council Discussion – January 11, February 8, and March 8, 2021 

1 
 
 

Over a 3-month period the CYF SOC Council facilitated a hot topic discussion around outreach and engagement during the COVID-19 pandemic. The 
following is a collection of input and is meant to be a resource document to the council and community partners 

SPECIAL 
POPULATION 

TRADITIONAL PRACTICES AND NEW INNOVATIONS 

OUTREACH 
Bringing new clients into care 

NEW CLIENTS 

ENGAGEMENT 
Ensuring the right level of service provision 

EXISTING CLIENTS  
Substance Use 

 
 
 

 Shift in F2F – look to cross disciplinary partnerships to contact youth.  
 Need broader community awareness – outreach with refugee 

community – need people who are trusted in the community to learn 
the language to talk about needs.  

 Drive up outreach 
 Partner with schools to distribute information 
 Creative ways to meet with youth, provide PPE, fun activities for youth 

and families 

 Creative ways to meet with youth, provide PPE, fun activities for 
youth and family’s 

 Drive up outreach; Particularly in Probation- resulted in more drug 
tests- put together curriculum bundles and drop-off at home 

 Case management and outreach at home 
 Teamed up with therapist and SUD counselor for visit; check-ins and 

taking family food 
 No-cost drug test; Outreach to families who have historically been 

engaged in treatment 
Mental Health 

 
 
 

 “How-to Videos” about how different cultures understand the 
language of mental health from their culture 

 SDUSD meeting with parent groups, resource guides for parents, 
resource guide for schools,  

 Mailing out engagement letters when we are not able to communicate 
with new referrals and also after we have completed screenings to 
families that have not followed through with completing required 
Intake paperwork.  Discussing barriers during screening process. 

 How-to videos about how different cultures understand the 
language of mental health from their culture  

 Need for home visits to connect and support the students and 
families.  

 Many of us have learned that we need to support our teams 
(therapists, parent/peer partners, admin, etc.) so that they can best 
show up for the families we serve.  Reflective supervision and 
infusing joy into their day has helped hold staff so that they can be 
emotionally present for those they are serving across - all 
populations 

 Parents requesting specific strategies- Education trainings shifted to 
techniques/strategies that resonate with parents- district doing very 
large parent training; Adjust to age group 

 Also working with staff trainings- cultivate resiliency and manage 
stress and anxiety; similar to parent strategies; also focus on next 
shift to hybrid and/or in-person learning 

 Use of TAY youth partners in schools- for MH and SUD 
Ages 0-5 

 
 Referrals increased beginning in September 
 Important to be F2F when possible 

 Concern about child abuse rates, potentially gaps for young children 
needing mental health support 

 May need to identify new pathways. 

108



Outreach and Engagement During the Pandemic-Best Practices 
CYF Council Discussion – January 11, February 8, and March 8, 2021 

2 
 
 

SPECIAL 
POPULATION 

TRADITIONAL PRACTICES AND NEW INNOVATIONS 

OUTREACH 
Bringing new clients into care 

NEW CLIENTS 

ENGAGEMENT 
Ensuring the right level of service provision 

EXISTING CLIENTS  
 
 

 3 to 4 sessions have really helped to build engagement then switching 
to virtual if necessary 

 Important to support the caregiver 
 Visits in community parks 
 First 5 Warmline: 1-888-5First5 

 Important to be F2F when possible 
 Referral pathways are clear 
 Utilizing a diversity-informed framework that allows for flexibility in 

use of EBPs.  This includes strategies such as increasing the number 
of sessions to develop rapport with the family & pausing on 
integrating specific manualized interventions when needed to 
address the immediate need of the family, be it stabilization or case 
management supports 

Ages 6-12 

 
 
 

 In person sessions to build rapport 
 Games with body movement – running, mini golf,  
 Social stories about interacting 
 Bringing them games ahead of time and have them open at virtual 

sessions 
 Keep sessions shorter and spread them out during the week.  
 Outreach to parents to ensure they have support and need met - food 

 Important to be F2F when possible 
 Increase # sessions to build rapport; meet the family where they are 

at and identifying needs and other supports 
 Increased parenting groups from 1 a month to 3 a month; easier 

access online; families more connected to program when have extra 
offerings 

 Looking at increase in youth groups 
 Referral pathways are clear 

Teens 

 
 
 

 In the TRCs offered free drug test for parents to access for teens 
 Schools have put together a portal on parent’s page that shows 

resources and support to the parents about what could be happening 
with their child.  

 Important to be F2F when possible 
 Social media- avenue to connecting with teens; building this up as a 

means for engagement 
 Groups online or live- hold a group on skill building; Bring teens 

together countywide- multiple region discussions and connections; 
success with ILS, mindfulness, yoga 

 Service learning projects, plays, theater 
 Leverage local popular social media influencers to deliver a message 

Specialized 
Programs  
(i.e. CSEC, 
Homeless, LGBTQ) 

 Schools leverage strength in student body population on how to speak 
to the youth and or parents on specific topics. Use peers to help peers 
(middle school and high school)  

 Need to think about LGBTQ youth who are sheltering in place with 
family that may be having a hard time because of need for code 
switching, issues of safety.  

 Online resources that can be accessed from the home are 
paramount for youth to be able to engage with a gender positive 
resource  

 Asking teachers to add pronouns to their signature lines – shows 
they are safe and perhaps someone a youth can speak to.  

109



Outreach and Engagement During the Pandemic-Best Practices 
CYF Council Discussion – January 11, February 8, and March 8, 2021 

3 
 
 

SPECIAL 
POPULATION 

TRADITIONAL PRACTICES AND NEW INNOVATIONS 

OUTREACH 
Bringing new clients into care 

NEW CLIENTS 

ENGAGEMENT 
Ensuring the right level of service provision 

EXISTING CLIENTS  
 Implement curriculum in 4 districts- online human trafficking 

training- parents, students and staff; also offered in Spanish 
Families 

 
 

 Caregiver and parent engagement is vital for young kids and teens 
 Social media is very important to share resources and tools.  
 Faith based communities are interested in supporting and offering 

resources but may not know how to connect or offer support 
 First 5 Warmline: 1-888-5First5 provides First 5 resources and network 

connections 

 Important to be F2F when possible 
 Increase parenting groups 
 Parenting groups in more threshold languages; reaching out in the 

manner that they would feel comfortable 

Residential (SUD) 

 
 

 Not applicable  Gender responsive in SUD; Bring families in virtually and on the 
phone; acknowledge where teens are and the multitude of 
challenges that they are facing 

 Family education throughout the process; capture the moment 
when the parents can be empowered with education and strategies 
for when youth comes back home 

Residential (MH) 
 

 

 Not applicable   Family education throughout the process; capture the moment 
when the parents can be empowered with education and strategies 
for when youth comes back home 

Education  

 
 

 Schools leverage strength in student body population on how to speak 
to the youth and or parents on specific topics. Use peers to help peers 

 SDCOEs Student Wellness and Positive School Climate Unit 
consolidated, created, and shared the mental health and wellness 
resources and virtual professional development opportunities through 
our multiple ListServs, SDCOE and outside partners’ web-based 
platforms. 
SDCOE Communications Department designated a COVID-19 site for 
schools, caregivers, and students: https://covid-19.sdcoe.net/Parent-
Resources  

 The following are resources to support LGBTQ students during distance 
learning. 

 A Checklist to Support LGBTQ Students During Distance Learning 

 Training school staff on what to look for in zoom meetings for signs 
of distress/ needs  

 Asking teachers to add pronouns to their signature lines – shows 
they are safe and perhaps someone a youth can speak to. 

 Add link to parent resource guide on the grade page.  
 PTA as a means for supporting schools to reaching out to students 

who aren’t reporting to school regularly 

110

https://covid-19.sdcoe.net/Parent-Resources
https://covid-19.sdcoe.net/Parent-Resources
https://www.nea.org/sites/default/files/2020-08/Download%20this%20article%20as%20a%20PDF%20%283%29.pdf


Outreach and Engagement During the Pandemic-Best Practices 
CYF Council Discussion – January 11, February 8, and March 8, 2021 

4 
 
 

SPECIAL 
POPULATION 

TRADITIONAL PRACTICES AND NEW INNOVATIONS 

OUTREACH 
Bringing new clients into care 

NEW CLIENTS 

ENGAGEMENT 
Ensuring the right level of service provision 

EXISTING CLIENTS  
 Supporting LGBTQ Students During the Coronavirus Quarantine: A Tip-

Sheet for School Counselors  
 Supporting LGBTQ Students During the Coronavirus Pandemic: A Tip 

Sheet for School Social Workers 
 

Health Plans/ 
Primary Care/ 
FQHC  

 Partnerships with PCP for referrals 
 

 Physician offices are still seeing needs 
 Drop off materials at clinic 

Cultural 
Considerations 

 
 

 Need to identify the language to how to ask for help 
 Creating How to speak videos in specific cultures when addressing MH 

and SU 

 When people are stressed, we need to realize people’s cultural 
norms. We need to consider their culture and use that in a way to 
stay engaged with them.  

 Cultural representation is also important to keep in mind.  

Foster Youth  

 
 

 Important to be F2F when possible  Important to be F2F when possible 
 Shorter, more frequent contacts 
 CFT meetings and settings to host discussions with entre team to 

make adjustments to support as needed; bring in natural supports 
and family members as much as possible 

 Educational liaisons in CWS regions (7); resource to PSWs and 
meetings 

 Parent advocates reaching out; districts reaching out 
 Working with birth parents to make most of in-person visits since 

not happening as frequently- work through mask-wearing and how 
to connect  

Justice Involved  Important to be F2F when possible  Important to be F2F when possible 

General 
Brainstorming 
 
 

 Virtual consultations and follow-ups through texting, phone and video 
calls, e-mails, social media, Skype, or Zoom 

 
 
 

 Wellness Calls for screening and informing of resources, when 
indicated 

 Drive-Thru Check-ins for F2F contacts 
 Appointment reminders- virtual touchpoints throughout care 
 Mobile Applications for tracking wellness changes 

111

https://hrc-prod-requests.s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/SchoolCounselorTipSheet_COVID19.pdf?mtime=20200819164349&focal=none
https://hrc-prod-requests.s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/SchoolCounselorTipSheet_COVID19.pdf?mtime=20200819164349&focal=none
https://assets2.hrc.org/files/assets/resources/SupporitngLGBTQ-Students-SocialWorkers-COVID19-061520.pdf?_ga=2.191322026.1216688301.1615915782-1410523288.1615915782
https://assets2.hrc.org/files/assets/resources/SupporitngLGBTQ-Students-SocialWorkers-COVID19-061520.pdf?_ga=2.191322026.1216688301.1615915782-1410523288.1615915782


Outreach and Engagement During the Pandemic-Best Practices 
CYF Council Discussion – January 11, February 8, and March 8, 2021 

5 
 
 

SPECIAL 
POPULATION 

TRADITIONAL PRACTICES AND NEW INNOVATIONS 

OUTREACH 
Bringing new clients into care 

NEW CLIENTS 

ENGAGEMENT 
Ensuring the right level of service provision 

EXISTING CLIENTS  
Systemic 
Recommendations 
 
 
 

 Important to be F2F when possible 
 Creative ways to meet with youth, provide PPE, fun activities for youth 

and family’s 
 Drive-Thru Check-ins for face to face contacts 
 Creating How-to videos in specific cultures when addressing MH and 

SUD  
 

 Important to be F2F when possible 
 Creative ways to meet with youth, provide PPE, fun activities for 

youth and family’s 
 Drive-Thru Check-ins for F2F contacts 
 Appointment reminders 
 Access other touchpoints for family drop off materials or F2F 

connection (school, physician’s office, etc.) 
 Training school staff on what to look for in zoom meetings for signs 

of distress/ needs  
 Creating How to speak videos in specific cultures when addressing 

MH and SUD  
 Outreach to parents to ensure they have support and need met – 

food 
 Focus on pathways to connection  
 Outreach to youth who are not logging in to zoom school 
 Look at unique cultural strategies in SOC meeting 
 How to break systemic racism- how to navigate the cultural 

differences and reduce systemic racism 

CYF SOC Council’s Summary Recommendations: 
 Promote cross disciplinary solutions and connections. 
 Continuously review and advance best practices, including evidence-based practices and community-informed best practices, to identify opportunities in today’s 

changing environment and implement throughout program development and practice.  
 Contractor’s associations may also continue this discussion either through the association and/or in partnership with County BHS. 
 Continued dialogue within County BHS CYF SOC Council meetings. 

 
 
 

112



 

 

 
 

Join Us for a Virtual Input Session 
 Behavioral Health Services 5-Year Strategic Housing Plan 

 
 
The County of San Diego Behavioral Health Services (BHS) is preparing to draft a new Behavioral 
Health Services 5-Year Strategic Housing Plan, facilitated by the Corporation for Supportive Housing 
(CSH). A series of Listening/Input Sessions are being hosted by CSH via Zoom to gather stakeholder 
information, input and feedback to inform the development of the Behavioral Health Services 5-Year 
Strategic Housing Plan. This effort is intended to obtain input on housing needs and goals in seeking 
to maximize a range of housing options (e.g. housing options/not licensed care) for people in San 
Diego County with behavioral health issues who have limited resources.  We want to hear from you.   
 
  
  

Input Session for Behavioral Health Services 5-Year Housing Strategic Plan   
Stakeholder Group: All BHS Councils 

   
May 14, 2021 

1:00pm to 2:30pm 
  

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://zoom.us/j/93051106291 

 
Meeting ID: 930 5110 6291 

One tap mobile 
8335480282,,93051106291# US Toll-free 
8778535257,,93051106291# US Toll-free 

 
  

            
We hope you will join us for this Listening/Input Session. CSH is committed on behalf of BHS to 
work with community partners in assisting BHS to develop a Strategic Housing Plan that maximizes 
housing options for people with behavioral health issues. If you have questions, please do not hesitate 
to contact Debbie.fountain@csh.org (Senior Program Manager, Corporation for Supportive Housing) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

113

https://zoom.us/j/93051106291
mailto:Debbie.fountain@csh.org


San Diego & Imperial CountiesSan Diego & Imperial Counties

Saturday, May 22, 2021

2021 SPONSORSHIP 
OPPORTUNITIES

Click below to watch the NAMIWalks Your Way video.

Watch Now 114


	(2) 5.01.18 SOC Council Principles 
	(3) CYF Framework 3-5-21
	(4) 3.8.2021-CYF Council Summary - Draft-3.8.21yk-rev-2-5.6.21
	(5) Mar 16 2021- BL item 02  Probation Training Services - ver2
	(6) Mar 16 2021- BL item 03 Establishing  Youth Transition Campus -ver2
	(7) Mar 16 2021- BL item 4 Probation RFP Req Res Tx Adult - ver2
	(8) Mar 16 2021- BL item 12 Rec SPA update-req Ext for Pilot project -ver2
	(9) Mar 16 2021- BL item 15 Literacy campaign youth of color - ver2
	(10) Mar 16 2021- BL item 21 Support for youth career readi- employ - ver2
	(11) 040621 Item 09 Mobile Crisis ResponseTeam - ver2
	(12) 040621 Item 10 Increasing access to self sufficientcy programs BL - ver2
	(13) 040621 API Resolution BL Item  16- ver2
	(14) 040621 Racism Public Health Crisis Report Back BL item 17 - ver2
	(15) 040621 Item 17 Att A Framework fo Equity- ver2
	(16) 040621 gun violence BL Item 25 - ver2
	(17) May 4 2021 Immigrant Legal rep BL -Item 5- ver2
	(18) May 4 2021 BL BHS COC Item 11 - ver2
	(19) May 4 2021 BL Item 11 BHS COC Att A - ver2
	(20) May 4 2021 BL BHS CCT ATT B LPS Des Guidelines -Procs Fac w SD - ver2
	(21) May 4 2021 BHS COC BL Item 11 ATT B1 LPS Desk Guidelines- ver2
	(22) 2021-05-04-ITEM 11- BHS COC Qtr Update de
	(23) May 4 2021 BL Item 24  Justice in Policing- ver2
	(24) April 1 2021 BHS Director's Report - ver2
	(25) May 2021 BHS Director's Report- ver2
	(26) ChildrensSSIFlyerEnglish
	DeemingChart2021.pdf
	SSIChildrenProgramFlyerEnglishCOVID19C.pdf
	SSIChildrenProgramFlyerENGLISH.pdf
	RequirementsChart.pdf
	ChildFlyerEnglish.pdf
	DEEMING ELIGIBILITY CHART FOR CHILDREN FOR 2016-CA.periwinkle 






	(27) ChildrensSSIFlyerSpanish
	(28) CAYEN flyer Ver 1
	Need to talk? Call the Warm Line! (855) 845-7415 Click Here to Learn More
	The California Youth Empowerment Network (CAYEN) was formed to develop, improve and strengthen the voice of Transition Age Youth (TAY) in local and state-level policy.
	We believe that Transition Age Youth (TAY) must have their voices heard because:
	Join the CAYEN Action Network


	(29) Beyond the ACE score with LINK - Ver 3
	Beyond the ACE score: Examining relationships between timing of developmental adversity, relational health and developmental outcomes in children
	Introduction
	Method
	Study design
	Participants
	Measures
	NMT Metrics

	Data analysis

	Results
	Discussion
	Study strengths, limitations, and future research directions
	Conclusions

	Acknowledgment
	References


	(30) ACE crosswalk
	Crosswalk - PCE Questions and CANS Strengths v.1.pdf
	Crosswalk- ACES-PCE to CANS v.1

	(31) March 8 2021-commit to CC input-RL
	(32) CYF SOC Outreach  Engagement -final
	(33) BHS 5 Year Strategic Housing Plan Input Session - Flyer de
	(34) 2021NAMIWalksSanDiego flier
	(1) 5.10.21  CYF Council Meeting Agenda-5.06.2021-final.pdf
	MEETING AGENDA


	Button 3: 


